

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration (Review)

Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M

Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M. Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 12. Art. No.: CD006425. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006425.pub4.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER
ABSTRACT
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
BACKGROUND
OBJECTIVES
METHODS
RESULTS
Figure 1
Figure 2
DISCUSSION
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES
DATA AND ANALYSES
${\it Analysis1.1.Comparison1OnetypeofBFeducationversusstandard/routinecare,Outcome1Durationofanybreastfeeding.}$
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 4 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 5 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 6 Initiation of breastfeeding
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 7 Initiation of BF (cluster- randomised trial).
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 8 Mastitis.
Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 9 Breastfeeding complication (nipple pain).
Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 10 Breastfeeding complication (nipple trauma).
Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 11 Breastfeeding problems.
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 1 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 4 Initiation of BF
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education, Outcome 1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days).
Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 1 Any breastfeeding at 4 months (cluster-randomised trial)
Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.
Analysis 4.3. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.
Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days).
Analysis 5.2. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.



Analysis 5.3. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at six months.	73
Analysis 5.4. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 4 Initiation of breastfeeding.	74
Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 1 Initiation of breastfeeding.	75
Analysis 6.2. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.	75
Analysis 6.3. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.	76
Analysis 6.4. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 4 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.	76
Analysis 6.5. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 5 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.	76
APPENDICES	77
WHAT'S NEW	77
HISTORY	78
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	78
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	78
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	78
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	79
INDEX TERMS	79



[Intervention Review]

Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration

Pisake Lumbiganon¹, Ruth Martis², Malinee Laopaiboon³, Mario R Festin⁴, Jacqueline J Ho⁵, Mohammad Hakimi⁶

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen, Thailand. ²Liggins Institute, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand. ³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Public Health, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen, Thailand. ⁴Department of Reproductive Health and Research, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. ⁵Department of Paediatrics, Penang Medical College, Penang, Malaysia. ⁶Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Contact address: Pisake Lumbiganon, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, 123 Mitraparb Road, Amphur Muang, Khon Kaen, 40002, Thailand. pisake@kku.ac.th.

Editorial group: Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group. **Publication status and date:** New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 12, 2016.

Citation: Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M. Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 12. Art. No.: CD006425. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006425.pub4.

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Breast milk is well recognised as the best food source for infants. The impact of antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education on the duration of BF has not been evaluated.

Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education for increasing BF initiation and duration.

Search methods

We searched Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth's Trials Register on 1 March 2016, CENTRAL (*The Cochrane Library*, 2016, Issue 3), MEDLINE (1966 to 1 March 2016) and Scopus (January 1985 to 1 March 2016). We contacted experts and searched reference lists of retrieved articles.

Selection criteria

All identified published, unpublished and ongoing randomised controlled trials (RCTs) assessing the effect of formal antenatal BF education or comparing two different methods of formal antenatal BF education, on the duration of BF. We included RCTs that only included antenatal interventions and excluded those that combined antenatal and intrapartum or postpartum BF education components. Cluster-randomised trials were included in this review. Quasi-randomised trials were not eligible for inclusion.

Data collection and analysis

We assessed all potential studies identified as a result of the search strategy. Two review authors extracted data from each included study using the agreed form and assessed risk of bias. We resolved discrepancies through discussion. We assessed the quality of the evidence using the GRADE approach.

Main results

This review update includes 24 studies (10,056 women). Twenty studies (9789 women) contribute data to analyses. Most studies took place in high-income countries such as the USA, UK, Canada and Australia. In the first five comparisons, we display the included trials according to type of intervention without pooling data. For the 'Summary of findings' we pooled data for a summary effect.



Five included studies were cluster-randomised trials: all of these adjusted data and reported adjustments as odds ratios (OR). We have analysed the data using the generic inverse variance method and presented results as odds ratios, because we were unable to derive a cluster-adjusted risk ratio from the published cluster-trial. We acknowledge that the use of odds ratio prevents the pooling of these cluster trials in our main analyses.

One method of BF education with standard (routine) care

There were no group differences for duration of any BF in days or weeks. There was no evidence that interventions improved the proportion of women with any BF or exclusive BF at three or six months. Single trials of different interventions were unable to show that education improved initiation of BF, apart from one small trial at high risk of attrition bias. Many trial results marginally favoured the intervention but had wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect. BF complications such as mastitis and other BF problems were similar in treatment arms in single trials reporting these outcomes.

Multiple methods of BF education versus standard care

For all trials included in this comparison we have presented the cluster-adjusted odds ratios as reported in trial publications. One threearm study found the intervention of BF booklet plus video plus Lactation Consultant versus standard care improved the proportion of women exclusively BF at three months (OR 2.60, 95% CI 1.25 to 5.40; women = 159) and marginally at six months (OR 2.40, 95% CI 1.00 to 5.76; women = 175). For the same trial, an intervention arm without a lactation consultant but with the BF booklet and video did not have the same effect on proportion of women exclusively BF at three months (OR 1.80, 95% CI 0.80 to 4.05; women = 159) or six months (OR 0.90, 95% CI 0.30 to 2.70; women = 184). One study compared monthly BF sessions and weekly cell phone message versus standard care and reported improvements in the proportion of women exclusively BF at both three and six months (three months OR 1.80, 95% CI 1.10 to 2.95; women = 390; six months OR 2.40, 95% CI 1.40 to 4.11; women = 390). One study found monthly BF sessions and weekly cell phone messages improved initiation of BF over standard care (OR 2.61, 95% CI 1.61 to 4.24; women = 380).

BF education session versus standard care, pooled analyses for 'Summary of findings' (SoF)

This comparison does not include cluster-randomised trials reporting adjusted odds ratios. We did not downgrade any evidence for trials' lack of blinding; no trial had adequate blinding of staff and participants. The SoF table presents risk ratios for all outcomes analysed. For proportion of women exclusively BF there is no evidence that antenatal BF education improved BF at three months (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.25; women = 822; studies = 3; moderate quality evidence) or at six months (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.30; women = 2161; studies = 4; moderate quality evidence). For proportion of women with any BF there were no group differences in BF at three (average RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.18; women = 654; studies = 2; $I^2 = 60\%$; low-quality evidence) or six months (average RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.23; women = 1636; studies = 4; $I^2 = 61\%$; high-quality evidence). There was no evidence that antenatal BF education could improve initiation of BF (average RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.09; women = 3505; studies = 8; $I^2 = 69\%$; high-quality evidence). Where we downgraded evidence this was due to small sample size or wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect, or both.

There was insufficient data for subgroup analysis of mother's occupation or education.

Authors' conclusions

There was no conclusive evidence supporting any antenatal BF education for improving initiation of BF, proportion of women giving any BF or exclusively BF at three or six months or the duration of BF. There is an urgent need to conduct a high-quality, randomised controlled study to evaluate the effectiveness and adverse effects of antenatal BF education, especially in low- and middle-income countries. Evidence in this review is primarily relevant to high-income settings.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration

What is the issue?

Breastfeeding (BF) can improve the child's health, the mother's health and mother-infant bonding. BF infants have lower rates of stomach and breathing problems, fewer ear infections and better speech, vision and overall development of physical and mental skills. The World Health Organization recommends that infants should be exclusively breastfed from birth to six months and then breastfed alongside ageappropriate, complementary feeding for two years and beyond. Many women are unable to follow these recommendations, and we want to know how to help women to breastfeed.

Why is this important?

Antenatal BF education is teaching women about BF during pregnancy, before the baby arrives. One reason women are unable to breastfeed has to do with lack of education and knowledge about how to breastfeed. We believe that improving pregnant women's knowledge of BF may help them to breastfeed longer, but we are unsure what types of education are most helpful to women.

What evidence did we find?



We included 24 studies with 10,056 women in the review, and 20 studies involving 9789 women contributed data to the analyses. Most studies took place in high-income countries including the USA, Canada, UK and Australia. Peer counselling, lactation consultation and formal BF education during pregnancy do not appear to improve uptake of BF or duration. However, some larger trials in different settings (one in Nigeria and one in Singapore) had some evidence that education may help.

What does this mean?

We are still unsure if antenatal BF education is able to help women; at present, there is no good evidence from randomised controlled trials to suggest these efforts to educate pregnant women translate into more and longer BF. Women who receive standard care before birth tend to choose BF at about the same rate as women who have extra BF education. We are confident in the results of studies measuring women's uptake of BF at birth and BF at six months; education does not appear to impact these decisions. We have some doubts about the impact of education on exclusive BF at three and six months; education does not seem to help women, but future studies may change our understanding. Future studies are likely to change our understanding of the impact of BF education during pregnancy on BF at three months. Most of the studies in this review took place in higher income countries, so we are not confident that our conclusions are relevant in other settings.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings for the main comparison. Antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education versus standard care

BF education versus standard/routine care

Patient or population: pregnant women

Setting: outpatient antenatal care at hospitals and clinics in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Hong Kong, Singapore, UK and USA

Intervention: any antenatal BF education

Comparison: standard/routine care

Outcomes	Anticipated absolute effects [*] (95% CI)		Relative effect	№ of partici-	Quality of the evidence	Comments
	Risk with Standard/rou- tine care	Risk with Summary of findings: One BF education	_ (55 % Cl)	(studies)	(GRADE)	
Initiation of BF	Study population		average RR 1.01	3505	⊕⊕⊕⊕ HICH 1	We have not down-
	750 per 1000	758 per 1000 (705 to 818)	(0.510 1.55)			come for lack of blinding. No trial contributing da- ta had adequate blinding of staff and participants
Proportion of	Study population	RR 1.06	822 (2 PCTc)			
BF at 3 months	376 per 1000	398 per 1000 (338 to 470)	(0.50 to 1.25)	(3 ((3 ())))	MODENATE	
Proportion of	Study population		RR 1.07	2161 (4 RCTs)		
BF at 6 months	154 per 1000	165 per 1000 (134 to 201)	- (0.01 to 1.30)	(+ ((- 13)	MODERATE	
Proportion of women any BE at 3	Study population		average RR 0.98	654 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊝⊝	
months	609 per 1000	597 per 1000 (500 to 719)	- (0.02 to 1.10)	(21(013)	LOW	
Proportion of	Study population		average RR 1.05	1636 (4 RCTs)		
months	505 per 1000 531 per 1000		- (0.50 (0 1.25)		רוטח~	

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

4

ing com- less nipple pain and less nipple trauma for women who had a lac- tation consultant. ² (2 studies) Moderate Both trials com- pared the interve tion with standard care Kronborg 2012 (n = 1162) reported no group differences as to whether women responded yes when asked about BF problems. ³ (2 studies) Moderate Both trials com- pared the interve tion with standard care n the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (ar nce interval; RR : Risk ratio; OR : Odds ratio; rking Group grades of evidence ty: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect y: Our confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect aulity: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of the effect aulity: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect aulity: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect aulity: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect aulity: We have the sum of the different from the estimate of effect and the effect estimate: the true effect (-1). eterogeneity l ² = 69% (not downgraded) af for imprecision due to small sample size (-2).		······/			
n the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (ar ince interval; RR: Risk ratio; OR: Odds ratio; rking Group grades of evidence ty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect quality: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is sub ifferent y: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited; the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uelty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uelty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect ueltors of ue to small sample size (-1). d for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1). ueterogeneity I ² = 60% (not downgraded) lence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-2).	reastfeeding com- lications	Duffy 1997 (n = 70) reported no group differences for mastitis, but less nipple pain and less nipple trauma for women who had a lac- tation consultant. ² Kronborg 2012 (n = 1162) reported no group differences as to whether women responded yes when asked about BF problems. ³	(2 studies)	Moderate	Both trials com- pared the interven- tion with standard care
<pre>rking Group grades of evidence ty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect quality: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is sub ifferent y: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect intercogeneity I² = 69% (not downgraded) id for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1). ieterogeneity I² = 60% (not downgraded) lence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-2) </pre>	The risk in the inter ts 95% Cl).	vention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assume	ed risk in the comparison group and	I the relative effect	t of the intervention (and
<pre>rking Group grades of evidence ty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect quality: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is sub lifferent y: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect uality: leterogeneity l² = 69% (not downgraded) d for imprecision due to small sample size (-1). d for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1). leterogeneity l² = 60% (not downgraded) lence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-2).</pre>	:I: Confidence interva	l: RR: Risk ratio; OR: Odds ratio;			
neterogeneity I ² = 69% (not downgraded) ed for imprecision due to small sample size (-1). ed for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1). neterogeneity I ² = 60% (not downgraded) dence intervals crossing the line of no effect and small sample size (-2).	RADE Working Grou	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the	e effect		
ed for imprecision due to small sample size (-1). ed for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1). reterogeneity I ² = 60% (not downgraded) lence intervals crossing the line of no effect and small sample size (-2).	RADE Working Grou ligh quality: We are loderate quality: We tantially different ow quality: Our conf 'ery low quality: We	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the e are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely fidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substant have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely	e effect / to be close to the estimate of the e ially different from the estimate of t / to be substantially different from t	ffect, but there is a he effect he estimate of effec	possibility that it is sub-
reterogeneity $I^2 = 60\%$ (not downgraded) tence intervals crossing the line of no effect and small sample size (-2)	GRADE Working Grou ligh quality: We are v Aoderate quality: We tantially different ow quality: Our cont 'ery low quality: We tatistical heterogene	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the e are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely fidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substant have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely ity I ² = 69% (not downgraded)	e effect / to be close to the estimate of the e ially different from the estimate of t / to be substantially different from t	ffect, but there is a he effect he estimate of effec	possibility that it is sub-
tence intervals crossing the line of no effect and small sample size (-2)	GRADE Working Grou ligh quality: We are v Aoderate quality: We tantially different ow quality: Our cont 'ery low quality: We tatistical heterogene 'owngraded for impre	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the e are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely idence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substant have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely ity I ² = 69% (not downgraded) ecision due to small sample size (-1).	e effect v to be close to the estimate of the e ially different from the estimate of t v to be substantially different from t	ffect, but there is a he effect he estimate of effec	possibility that it is sub-
the new field showing the wheels the structure should show size (2)	GRADE Working Grou ligh quality: We are v Aoderate quality: We tantially different .ow quality: Our cont 'ery low quality: We tatistical heterogene bowngraded for impre- tatistical heterogene	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the e are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely fidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substant have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely fity $I^2 = 69\%$ (not downgraded) ecision due to small sample size (-1). ecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1 ity $I^2 = 60\%$ (not downgraded)	e effect / to be close to the estimate of the e ially different from the estimate of t / to be substantially different from t .).	ffect, but there is a he effect he estimate of effec	possibility that it is sub-
ieterogeneity I ² = 61% (not downgraded)	GRADE Working Grou ligh quality: We are w Aoderate quality: We tantially different ow quality: Our cont 'ery low quality: We tatistical heterogene bowngraded for impre- tatistical heterogene vide confidence inter	p grades of evidence very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the e are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely fidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substant have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely ity $l^2 = 69\%$ (not downgraded) ecision due to small sample size (-1). ecision due to wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect (-1 ity $l^2 = 60\%$ (not downgraded) vals crossing the line of no effect and small sample size (-2)	e effect v to be close to the estimate of the e ially different from the estimate of t v to be substantially different from t	ffect, but there is a he effect he estimate of effec	possibility that it is sub-



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Breastfeeding (BF) is well recognised as the best food source for infants (Sankar 2015). Complementary foods offered before six months of age tend to displace breast milk and do not confer any health advantage over exclusive BF (Kramer 2012). BF has been advocated to improve child health, maternal health and mother-infant bonding (Ball 2001; Hanson 2002). BF has been associated with lower rates of gastrointestinal and respiratory diseases, otitis media and allergies, better visual acuity, and speech and cognitive development (Innis 2001; Quigley 2012; Renfrew 2012; Wold 2000). It is also cost effective (Renfrew 2012). Infants who are breastfed have a lower risk of developing insulindependent diabetes in childhood (Horta 2015), sudden infant death syndrome (Renfrew 2012) and childhood cancer (Amitay 2016). Recent research indicates that the type of infant feeding may contribute to children becoming overweight and obese in early and late childhood. BF has been shown to protect against child obesity and cardiovascular risk outcomes and is dose related - the longer the infant is breastfed, the lower the risk (Arenz 2004; Harder 2005; Owen 2005). A Cochrane Review by Kramer 2012 indicated that exclusive BF for six months has several advantages over exclusive BF for three to four months followed by mixed BF.

Delay in return of fertility has been associated with frequent and long periods of exclusive BF, as well as a lower risk of developing breast cancer (Chowdhury 2015). Women who had not breastfed their babies were four times more likely to have osteoporosis than women who had breastfed (Blaauw 1994). Better emotional health has also been attributed to women who breastfed. Virden 1988 found that, at one month postpartum, women who breastfed their infants had scores indicating less anxiety than women who had bottle fed their infants. The retrospective review of medical records of 800 pregnancies by Acheson 1995 revealed an association between lack of BF and physical and sexual abuse of the women or her children, or both. This was a small review, the results of which warrant further study. A recent published study found that women who breastfed for at least one year were less likely to develop Type 2 diabetes than women who did not breastfeed (Stuebe 2005). Some studies have shown a benefit of BF in enhancing couple and family relationships (Cohen 2002; Falceto 2004; Jordan 1993; Li 2004; Sullivan 2004).

In 1988, the World Health Organization (WHO) and UNICEF proposed the following standard terminology for the collection and description of data on BF behaviour; these were updated in 1991 (WHO 1991), and are now widely used (Dettwyler 1992). Breastfeeding means the infant receives breast milk but allows the infant to receive any food or liquid including non-human milk. Exclusive BF is defined as an infant being fed only breast milk, with the possible exception of vitamin D in certain populations and iron in infants of relatively low birthweight (Dewey 2001). Predominant BF is when the infant receives breast milk as the predominant source of nourishment but allows the infant to receive liquids (water and water-based drinks, fruit juice, oral dehydration solutions) and drops or syrups (vitamins, minerals, medicines) but does not allow the infant to receive anything else (in particular, non-human milk and food-based fluids). Complimentary BF is the situation when the infant receives breast milk and solid or semisolid foods and allows the infant to receive any food or liquid including non-human milk.

Despite the many advantages and extensive promotion of BF, Susin 1999 reported that the trend towards BF in many countries has been increasing slowly. However, according to the UNICEF report (UNICEF 2005), six million lives a year are being saved by exclusive BF and global BF initiation rates have risen by at least 15% since 1990. At the same time, women breastfeed for a shorter time than they intended or wished to (Adams 2001; Wagner 2002). The World Health Organization recommends that infants should be exclusively breastfed from birth to six months and then breastfed alongside age-appropriate, complementary feeding for two years and beyond (WHO 2001).

Description of the intervention

Antenatal BF education is defined as BF information being imparted during the pregnancy in a variety of forms. This could be on an individual or group basis, could include home visiting programmes, peer education programmes or clinic appointments specifically aimed at imparting BF knowledge and could involve prospective fathers or not. BF education is usually a formalised, defined, descriptive and goal-orientated programme with a specific purpose and target audience.

BF education differs from BF support. BF support is usually aimed at the individual person as the need arises and is defined as a person, a group or an organisation providing support in many ways. This could be psychological support (affirming and encouraging the mother), physical support (providing meals, caring for her other children, house cleaning and gardening), financial support or BF information services available to be tapped into when a BF question arises. BF support usually starts in the postnatal period, not antenatally.

Although we recognise the potential importance of interventions in the postnatal period on BF outcomes, the focus of this review is on antenatal BF education only, and we have not included trials examining interventions that also involve intrapartum or postpartum BF education. Other Cochrane Reviews examine BF education and support interventions in the intrapartum and postnatal periods (Britton 2007; Dyson 2005; Sikorski 2002).

How the intervention might work

Another Cochrane Systematic Review provides evidence that various forms of BF education are effective at increasing rates of BF initiation among women on low incomes in the USA and initiation will, therefore, not be the main focus in this review (Dyson 2005). The impact of antenatal BF education on the duration of BF, however, has not been widely reported. In Australia, more than 90% of mothers initiate BF; however, only 48% of mothers are BF at one month postpartum and only 23% maintain any form of BF at six months (Lund-Adams 1996). Similar BF duration rates have been reported in the USA (Raj 1998) and Britain (Griffiths 2005; Hoddinott 2000), as well as in low-income countries (UNICEF 1998). A variety of BF promotion methods including educational programmes have been studied to support the trend to increase BF duration. It is generally believed that, by improving the mothers' knowledge of BF antenatally, the rates and duration of BF would increase (McLeod 2002). Lack of antenatal information and education about BF has been one factor attributed by New Zealand mothers interviewed about discontinuing BF (McLeod 2002).

Why it is important to do this review

This is an update of a Cochrane Review first published in 2011, and previously updated in 2012. The earlier version of the review indicated that there were significant methodological limitations and the observed effect sizes were small, and there was no clear evidence to support any specific antenatal BF education. This current update will provide the most up-to-date evidence on the effectiveness of antenatal BF education.

OBJECTIVES

- 1. To assess the effectiveness of antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education for increasing BF initiation and duration.
- 2. To compare the effectiveness of various forms of education; for example, peer support, educational programme, didactic teaching session, workshop, booklets, etc, or a combination of these interventions for increasing BF initiation and duration.
- 3. To assess the effects of antenatal BF education on other maternal and infant outcomes, for example, BF complications, maternal satisfaction and neonatal sepsis.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

All identified published, unpublished and ongoing randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comparing antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education programmes, with or without formal BF education. Randomised units could be clustered, for example, hospitals, communities or groups of pregnant women or individual women. We excluded quasi-RCTs. We did not include studies published only as abstracts.

Types of participants

Pregnant women or their partners, or both.

Types of interventions

Any type of antenatal education with BF components. Antenatal BF education is defined as BF information being imparted during pregnancy in a variety of forms. This could be on an individual or group basis, include home visiting programmes; peer education programmes or clinic appointments specifically aimed at imparting BF knowledge; brochures or booklets; electronic education programmes; or a combination of these, and could involve prospective fathers or not. Formal BF education is defined as BF education that was given formally in addition to any BF education that was given as part of standard antenatal care. We excluded RCTs examining interventions that included intrapartum or postpartum BF education in addition to antenatal BF education.

We examined five comparisons.

- 1. One type of BF education versus standard/routine care
- 2. One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education
- 3. Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education
- 4. Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education
- 5. Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

- 1. Duration of any BF
- 2. Duration of exclusive BF
- 3. Proportion of women with any BF at three and six months
- 4. Proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months
- 5. Initiation of BF

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Maternal satisfaction
- 2. BF complications such as mastitis and breast abscess
- 3. Infant growth by weight and head circumference
- 4. Neonatal sepsis
- 5. Taking child to doctor
- 6. Hospital admission for child

Search methods for identification of studies

The following methods section of this review is based on a standard template used by Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth.

Electronic searches

We searched Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth's Trials Register by contacting their Information Specialist (1 March 2016).

The Register is a database containing over 22,000 reports of controlled trials in the field of pregnancy and childbirth. For full search methods used to populate Pregnancy and Childbirth's Trials Register including the detailed search strategies for CENTRAL, MEDLINE, Embase and CINAHL; the list of handsearched journals and conference proceedings, and the list of journals reviewed via the current awareness service, please follow this link to the editorial information about the Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group in *The Cochrane Library* and select the '**Specialized Register**' section from the options on the left side of the screen.

Briefly, Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth's Trials Register is maintained by their Information Specialist and contains trials identified from:

- 1. monthly searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL);
- 2. weekly searches of MEDLINE (Ovid);
- 3. weekly searches of Embase (Ovid);
- 4. monthly searches of CINAHL (EBSCO);
- 5. handsearches of 30 journals and the proceedings of major conferences;
- 6. weekly current awareness alerts for a further 44 journals plus monthly BioMed Central email alerts.

Search results are screened by two people and the full text of all relevant trial reports identified through the searching activities described above is reviewed. Based on the intervention described, each trial report is assigned a number that corresponds to a specific Pregnancy and Childbirth review topic (or topics), and is then added to the Register. The Information Specialist searches the Register for each review using this topic number rather than keywords. This results in a more specific search set which has been fully accounted for in the relevant review sections (Included

studies; Excluded studies; Studies awaiting classification; Ongoing studies).

In addition, we also searched CENTRAL (*The Cochrane Library*, 2016, Issue 3), MEDLINE (1966 to 1 March 2016) and Scopus (January 1985 to 1 March 2016). We contacted experts and searched reference lists of retrieved articles using the search strategies detailed in Appendix 1.

Searching other resources

We contacted investigators (identified from the retrieved articles) and other content experts known to us for unpublished studies. Furthermore, we looked for relevant studies in the references of the retrieved articles.

We did not apply any language or date restrictions.

Data collection and analysis

For methods used in the previous version of this review, *see* Lumbiganon 2012.

For this update, we used the following methods for assessing the 42 reports that we identified as a result of the updated search.

The following methods section of this review is based on a standard template used by Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth.

Selection of studies

Two review authors independently assessed for inclusion all the potential studies identified as a result of the search strategy. We resolved any disagreement through discussion or, if required, we consulted the third review author.

Data extraction and management

We designed a form to extract data. For eligible studies, two review authors extracted the data using the agreed form. We resolved discrepancies through discussion or, if required, we consulted the third review author. Data were entered into Review Manager (RevMan) software (RevMan 2014) and checked for accuracy.

When information regarding any of the above was unclear, we attempted to contact authors of the original reports to provide further details.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors independently assessed risk of bias for each study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a). We resolved any disagreement by discussion or by involving a third assessor.

(1) Random sequence generation (checking for possible selection bias)

We described for each included study the method used to generate the allocation sequence in sufficient detail to allow an assessment of whether it should produce comparable groups.

We assessed the method as:

 low risk of bias (any truly random process, e.g. random number table; computer random number generator);

- high risk of bias (any non-random process, e.g. odd or even date of birth; hospital or clinic record number);
- unclear risk of bias.

(2) Allocation concealment (checking for possible selection bias)

We described for each included study the method used to conceal allocation to interventions prior to assignment and assessed whether intervention allocation could have been foreseen in advance of, or during recruitment, or changed after assignment.

We assessed the methods as:

- low risk of bias (e.g. telephone or central randomisation; consecutively numbered sealed opaque envelopes);
- high risk of bias (open random allocation; unsealed or nonopaque envelopes, alternation; date of birth);
- unclear risk of bias.

(3.1) Blinding of participants and personnel (checking for possible performance bias)

We described for each included study the methods used, if any, to blind study participants and personnel from knowledge of which intervention a participant received. We considered that studies were at low risk of bias if they were blinded, or if we judged that the lack of blinding was unlikely to affect results. We assessed blinding separately for different outcomes or classes of outcomes.

We assessed the methods as:

- low, high or unclear risk of bias for participants;
- low, high or unclear risk of bias for personnel.

(3.2) Blinding of outcome assessment (checking for possible detection bias)

We described for each included study the methods used, if any, to blind outcome assessors from knowledge of which intervention a participant received. We assessed blinding separately for different outcomes or classes of outcomes.

We assessed methods used to blind outcome assessment as:

• low, high or unclear risk of bias.

(4) Incomplete outcome data (checking for possible attrition bias due to the amount, nature and handling of incomplete outcome data)

We described for each included study, and for each outcome or class of outcomes, the completeness of data including attrition and exclusions from the analysis. We stated whether attrition and exclusions were reported and the numbers included in the analysis at each stage (compared with the total randomised participants), reasons for attrition or exclusion where reported, and whether missing data were balanced across groups or were related to outcomes. Where sufficient information was reported, or could be supplied by the trial authors, we planned to re-include missing data in the analyses which we undertook.

We assessed methods as:

 low risk of bias (e.g. no missing outcome data; missing outcome data balanced across groups);



- high risk of bias (e.g. numbers or reasons for missing data imbalanced across groups; 'as treated' analysis done with substantial departure of intervention received from that assigned at randomisation);
- unclear risk of bias.

(5) Selective reporting (checking for reporting bias)

We described for each included study how we investigated the possibility of selective outcome reporting bias and what we found.

We assessed the methods as:

- low risk of bias (where it is clear that all of the study's prespecified outcomes and all expected outcomes of interest to the review have been reported);
- high risk of bias (where not all the study's pre-specified outcomes have been reported; one or more reported primary outcomes were not pre-specified; outcomes of interest are reported incompletely and so cannot be used; study fails to include results of a key outcome that would have been expected to have been reported);
- unclear risk of bias.

(6) Other bias (checking for bias due to problems not covered by (1) to (5) above)

We described for each included study any important concerns we had about other possible sources of bias.

(7) Overall risk of bias

We made explicit judgements about whether studies were at high risk of bias, according to the criteria given in the *Handbook* (Higgins 2011a). With reference to (1) to (6) above, we planned to assess the likely magnitude and direction of the bias and whether we considered it is likely to impact on the findings. In future updates, we will explore the impact of the level of bias through undertaking sensitivity analyses - see Sensitivity analysis.

Assessment of the quality of the evidence using the GRADE approach

For this update the quality of the evidence was assessed using the GRADE approach as outlined in the GRADE handbook, in order to assess the quality of the body of evidence relating to the following outcomes for comparison 6. Any BF education versus standard care:

- 1. Initiation of BF
- 2. Proportion of women exclusively BF at six months
- 3. Proportion of women exclusively BF at three months
- 4. Proportion of women with any BF at six months
- 5. Proportion of women with any BF at three months
- 6. BF complications such as mastitis and breast abscess

GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool was used to import data from RevMan (RevMan 2014) in order to create a 'Summary of findings' table. A summary of the intervention effect and a measure of quality for each of the above outcomes was produced using the GRADE approach. The GRADE approach uses five considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness and publication bias) to assess the quality of the body of evidence for each outcome. The evidence can be downgraded from 'high quality' by one level for serious (or by two levels for very serious) limitations, depending on assessments for risk of bias, indirectness of evidence, serious inconsistency, imprecision of effect estimates or potential publication bias.

Measures of treatment effect

For dichotomous data, we presented results as summary risk ratio (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI), with the exception of cluster-randomised trials that reported adjusted odds ratios (OR) (see note below). For continuous data we used the mean difference (MD) if outcomes were measured in the same way between trials. In future updates, if appropriate, we will use the standardised mean difference to combine trials that measured the same outcome, but use different methods.

Unit of analysis issues

Cluster-randomised trials

We included studies where individual women were randomised and cluster-randomised studies where, for example, clinics were the unit of randomisation. Five included studies were clusterrandomised trials (Flax 2014; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007); all of these studies report results for review outcomes with adjustments made for clustering effects.

For trials where cluster-adjusted data were reported as odds ratios (Flax 2014; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007) we have analysed the data using the generic inverse variance method in RevMan 2014; we presented these results as odds ratios, because we were unable to derive a cluster-adjusted risk ratio from the published, cluster-adjusted odds ratio. We acknowledge that the use of odds ratios prevents the pooling of these cluster trials in our main analyses (comparison 6).

Where there was no adjustment for cluster design effect in the published report, or where raw data were available, we adjusted the data ourselves and have presented risk ratios, because we feel this statistic is more appropriate for BF outcomes. (For example, Lavender 2005 provides an intra-cluster correlation co-efficient (ICC) of 0.01, as well as mean cluster size and design effects for each BF outcome; we used these to adjust the sample size for outcome data in Analysis 1.5). If we adjusted data ourselves, we combined the adjusted data in analyses and report pooled risk ratios. We consider it reasonable to combine the results from both individual and cluster-randomised trials if there is little heterogeneity between the study designs and the interaction between the effect of intervention and the choice of randomisation unit is considered to be unlikely.

In future updates, if we identify any more cluster-randomised trials we will include them in the analyses along with individuallyrandomised trials. If adjustment for the cluster design effect has not already been made by the trial authors, we will adjust their sample sizes using the methods described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions; Section 16.3.4 or 16.3.6* (Higgins 2011b) using an estimate of the ICC derived from the trial (if possible), from a similar trial or from a study of a similar population. If we use ICCs from other sources, we will report this and conduct sensitivity analyses to investigate the effect of variation in the ICC.

We will also acknowledge heterogeneity in the randomisation unit, and, if there are sufficient numbers of trials, we will perform a



subgroup analysis to investigate the effects of the randomisation unit.

Cross-over trials

Cross-over trials were not eligible for this review.

Other unit of analysis issues

Multiple pregnancies

In the studies that contributed data to this review, four excluded multiple pregnancies from their trial (Kellams 2016; Kronborg 2012; Mattar 2007; Wong 2014). Of the remaining studies, 12 did not mention multiple pregnancies (Duffy 1997; Flax 2014; Forster 2004; Kistin 1990; Kluka 2004; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Olenick 2010; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Wolfberg 2004). Serwint 1996 was the only study that reported a twin pregnancy and only included data from twin A. We have not made adjustments to any analyses to account for correlated outcomes due to multiple pregnancy.

Multiple-armed studies

Four studies contributing data to our review included multiple treatment arms (Forster 2004; Kistin 1990; Mattar 2007; Schlickau 2005a). Ryser 2004 also included multiple treatment arms but did not contribute any data to this review.

We treated trials with three arms as follows.

- 1. We included two intervention arms comparing one form of BF education versus another form (group antenatal BF class and individual antenatal counselling) in Comparison 2 (Kistin 1990). In this study, the third comparison arm was a control group which was not randomised and therefore not included in this review.
- 2. We included only the intervention arms comparing an information booklet, educational video and session with a lactation consultant versus the same information booklet and video without the lactation consultant session in Comparison 4 (Mattar 2007), the third comparison was a control group and was included in Comparison 5.
- 3. For comparisons 1 to 5, we included more than one intervention arm compared with control, so the study ID will appear in the forest plot twice (a footnote identifies the arms). We did not split the control groups for these analyses because the trials were not pooled.
- 4. We kept intervention arms separate and split the control group to avoid double counting for pooled data in Comparison 6 (Forster 2004).
- 5. Schlickau 2005a presented continuous data, and so we compared single intervention arms with control.

Dealing with missing data

For included studies, we noted levels of attrition. In future updates, if more eligible studies are included, we will explore the impact of including studies with high levels of missing data in the overall assessment of treatment effect by using sensitivity analysis.

For all outcomes, we carried out analyses, as far as possible, on an intention-to-treat basis, that is, we attempted to include all participants randomised to each group in the analyses. The denominator for each outcome in each trial was the number

randomised minus any participants whose outcomes were known to be missing.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We assessed statistical heterogeneity in each meta-analysis using the Tau², I² (Higgins 2003) and Chi² statistics. We regarded heterogeneity as substantial if I² was greater than 30% and either Tau² was greater than zero, or there was a low P value (less than 0.10) in the Chi² test for heterogeneity. If we identified substantial heterogeneity (above 30%), we planned to explore it by prespecified subgroup analysis (Deeks 2011).

Assessment of reporting biases

In future updates, if there are 10 or more studies in the metaanalysis we will investigate reporting biases (such as publication bias) using funnel plots. We will assess funnel plot asymmetry visually. If asymmetry is suggested by a visual assessment, we will perform exploratory analyses to investigate it.

Data synthesis

We carried out statistical analysis using the Review Manager (RevMan) software (RevMan 2014). We used fixed-effect metaanalysis for combining data where it was reasonable to assume that studies were estimating the same underlying treatment effect: that is, where trials were examining the same intervention, and the trials' populations and methods were judged sufficiently similar.

If there was clinical heterogeneity sufficient to expect that the underlying treatment effects differed between trials, or if substantial statistical heterogeneity was detected, we used random-effects meta-analysis to produce an overall summary if an average treatment effect across trials was considered clinically meaningful. The random-effects summary was treated as the average range of possible treatment effects and we discussed the clinical implications of treatment effects differing between trials. If the average treatment effect was not clinically meaningful, we planned not to combine trials. If we used random-effects analyses, the results were presented as the average treatment effect with 95% confidence intervals, and the estimates of Tau² and I².

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

Where we identified substantial heterogeneity, we planned to investigate it using subgroup analyses and sensitivity analyses. We used a random-effects model if the overall summary was meaningful.

We planned to carry out the following subgroup analyses.

- 1. Type of intervention
- 2. Study setting
- 3. Maternal education
- 4. Maternal occupation

We planned to restrict subgroup analysis to primary outcomes with sufficient numbers of trials in the relevant subgroups and to assess subgroup differences by interaction tests available within RevMan (RevMan 2014). We planned to report the results of subgroup analyses quoting the Chi² statistic and P value, and the interaction test I² value.

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

There were insufficient trials in relevant subgroups to analyse subgroups according to types of interventions or setting. There were insufficient trials reporting outcome data according to maternal education or maternal occupation to conduct these subgroup analyses.

Sensitivity analysis

We planned to explore the effect of trial quality assessed by concealment of allocation, high attrition rates, or both, with poorquality studies being excluded from the analyses in order to assess whether this made any difference to the overall result. There were no studies at high risk of bias for allocation concealment, so we did not conduct this analysis. When we removed one trial at high risk of bias for attrition (Wolfberg 2004) results did not change for Analysis 6.1 (analysis not shown).

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

In the first published version of this review (Lumbiganon 2011) the search of the Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's Trials Register yielded 57 potential studies. Our additional search yielded one potential study. We explored the contents, and grouped together trial reports for the same study; from this we identified 17 studies (involving 7131 women) that met the inclusion criteria. We excluded 39 studies.

In the subsequent version (Lumbiganon 2012) of this review we searched the Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's Trials Register on 2 December 2011 and in addition, we searched CENTRAL (*The Cochrane Library*, 2011, Issue 11), MEDLINE (1966 to 30 November 2011) and Scopus (January 1985 to 30 November 2011) using the search strategies detailed in Appendix 1. We identified five additional potential studies, two studies (Kronborg 2012; Olenick 2010) were included, and three excluded (Kupratakul 2010; NCT01383070; Wockel 2009). We therefore included 19 studies involving 8506 women and excluded 42 studies in that update.

For this update (2016) we searched Pregnancy and Childbirth's Trials Register (1 March 2016), CENTRAL (*The Cochrane Library*, 2016, Issue 3), MEDLINE (1966 to 1 March 2016) and Scopus (January 1985 to 1 March 2016). We identified 42 citations of which there were nine potential included studies. We have included five more studies (Flax 2014; Kellams 2016; Pate 2009; Raeisi 2014; Wong 2014) at this update.

Two studies are awaiting translation and classification (Bahri 2013; Bastani 2009) and one study is ongoing (Maycock 2015). For the 2016 update we have included a total of 24 studies and excluded at total of 66 studies.

Included studies

We included 24 studies. We have provided full details of included studies in the Characteristics of included studies tables. Of these, 20 studies involving 9789 women contributed data to the analyses for primary and secondary outcomes; four included studies (Kaplowitz 1983; Noel-Weiss 2006; Pate 2009; Ryser 2004) met our inclusion criteria but did not report data on any of our prespecified outcomes. Kaplowitz 1983 described women's attitudes towards breastfeeding (BF) before and after the intervention and we have

not included results from this study in the review. Ryser 2004 and Noel-Weiss 2006 report on BF at time points which we had not prespecified, and we have included a brief description of results from these studies following results for our primary and secondary outcomes. Pate 2009 reported self-efficacy outcomes which were not prespecified outcomes in this review.

Study design

We included 19 randomised controlled trials and five cluster randomised trials (Flax 2014; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007). Five studies included multiple treatment arms (Forster 2004; Kistin 1990; Mattar 2007; Ryser 2004; Schlickau 2005a).

Sample sizes

We included 24 studies with 10,056 women in the review, and 20 studies involving 9789 women contributed data to the analyses. The sample size of studies that contributed data to the review ranged from 30 (Schlickau 2005a) to 2511 (MacArthur 2009) with an average of 419 women. Six of these studies had fewer than 100 women taking part (Duffy 1997; Finch 2002; Kistin 1990; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Wolfberg 2004).

Setting

Eleven studies were conducted in the USA (Finch 2002; Kaplowitz 1983; Kellams 2016; Kistin 1990; Olenick 2010; Pate 2009; Ryser 2004; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Serwint 1996; Wolfberg 2004), three in Australia (Duffy 1997; Forster 2004; Rossiter 1994), two in the United Kingdom (Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009), two in Canada (Kluka 2004; Noel-Weiss 2006), one in Iran (Raeisi 2014), one in Nigeria (Flax 2014), one in the Netherlands (Kools 2005), one in Denmark (Kronborg 2012), one in Singpore (Mattar 2007), and one in Hong Kong (Wong 2014). Overwhelmingly the evidence in this review is relevant to higher income countries and settings.

Participants

All 24 studies recruited women in the antenatal period who were accessing antenatal care services with the exception of Flax 2014 who recruited women attending monthly microcredit meetings. Nine studies only recruited primigravida women (Forster 2004; Kluka 2004; Kronborg 2012; Noel-Weiss 2006; Pate 2009; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Serwint 1996; Wong 2014). Kaplowitz 1983 included primigravida women, women who had bottle-fed previous children or who had previously had an unsuccessful BF experience.

The studies recruited at a range of gestations for example Rossiter 1994 recruited pregnant women who were at least 12 weeks' gestation, Forster 2004 and Kaplowitz 1983 at 16 to 24 weeks' gestation and Mattar 2007 at gestations above 36 weeks.

Kellams 2016; Pate 2009 and Ryser 2004 only recruited women on a low income, though only Kellams 2016 contributed data to the review.

None of the studies specified ethnicity except for Kistin 1990, who recruited only black women born in the USA, and Rossiter 1994, who only recruited Vietnamese or other women who were born and reared in Vietnam.



Four studies only recruited women with singleton pregnancies (Kronborg 2012; Mattar 2007; Noel-Weiss 2006; Wong 2014).

Wolfberg 2004 and Raeisi 2014 recruited pregnant women's partners to antenatal BF education.

Interventions and comparisons

Interventions included BF education session, printed information, video, peer counselling and lactation consultation (LC), weekly cell phone BF text and voice messages to cell phone, web-based education, and support related to BF practices.

There were a total of 20 comparisons from the included studies which are described below (some studies with more than two experimental arms are included in more than one comparison).

Sixteen studies compared a single method of BF education with standard care (Duffy 1997; Forster 2004; Kaplowitz 1983; Kellams 2016; Kluka 2004; Kronborg 2012; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Noel-Weiss 2006; Olenick 2010; Raeisi 2014; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Serwint 1996; Wolfberg 2004; Wong 2014). Two of these studies (Kaplowitz 1983; Noel-Weiss 2006) compared BF education session versus standard care but did not provide any information about BF practices. Seven studies (Forster 2004; Kronborg 2012; Lavender 2005; Olenick 2010; Raeisi 2014; Schlickau 2005a; Wong 2014) compared BF education session versus standard care. Two studies (Duffy 1997; Serwint 1996) compared LC versus standard care. Two studies (Kluka 2004; Schlickau 2005b) compared BF workshop versus standard care. One study (Kellams 2016) compared BF video versus standard care. Two studies (MacArthur 2009; Raeisi 2014) compared BF peer support versus standard care. Raeisi 2014 and Wolfberg 2004 both aimed interventions at partners of pregnant women.

There were two studies (Forster 2004; Kistin 1990) comparing one form of BF education versus other form of BF education. One study (Kistin 1990) compared group education versus individual education. One study (Forster 2004) compared BF practical skills versus BF attitude education.

Three studies (Finch 2002; Rossiter 1994; Schlickau 2005a) examined programmes involving multiple methods of providing education compared to those using a single method. Finch 2002 compared LC plus incentive plus handout with BF education session. Rossiter 1994 examined the effect of a video and BF education session versus a BF pamphlet. One study (Schlickau 2005a) compared BF education session and baby quarantine versus BF education session.

Two studies (Kools 2005; Mattar 2007) compared different combinations of multiple interventions. One study (Mattar 2007) compared a BF booklet plus a video and LC versus a BF booklet and video only. Another study (Kools 2005) compared LC and a BF booklet with BF booklet and phone number for BF questions.

There were four studies (Flax 2014; Mattar 2007; Ryser 2004; Schlickau 2005a) that compared programmes involving multiple methods of providing education versus standard care. Flax 2014 compared weekly cell phone BF text and voice messages to cell phone and monthly face-to-face BF information versus standard care. Mattar 2007 compared a BF booklet, video and LC versus no formal BF education. Ryser 2004 compared a counselling session plus viewing a video plus the provision of written materials addressing common BF barriers perceived by low-income women versus no formal BF education. This study did not provide any information on our proposed outcomes and has not been included in the analyses. Schlickau 2005a compared BF education session plus baby quarantine concept versus standard care.

In studies where BF education was compared with standard care, there was considerable variation in what was offered as part of usual care in terms of BF education. In many studies standard care was not described at all or the description was vague (e.g. provision of a leaflet or midwife advice). We have set out information about care for control groups in the Characteristics of included studies, and it is important that this is taken into account in the interpretation of results. Intrapartum and postpartum care could also have an impact on BF duration; these aspects of care also varied across included studies.

Comparisons in the studies were mostly reported as 'routine' or 'standard' antenatal care. In 13 studies standard/routine care included some form of BF education or support (Finch 2002; Forster 2004; Kluka 2004; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007; Pate 2009; Rossiter 1994; Schlickau 2005a; Schlickau 2005b; Serwint 1996; Wong 2014). Two studies did not include any BF information (Flax 2014; Wolfberg 2004), and it was not clear in the remaining nine studies whether the control group participants received any BF education or support as part of standard care (Duffy 1997; Kaplowitz 1983; Kellams 2016; Kistin 1990; Kronborg 2012; Noel-Weiss 2006; Olenick 2010; Raeisi 2014; Ryser 2004).

Excluded studies

We excluded 66 studies. Reasons for exclusion included: the intervention was not confined to the antenatal period only or was not an educational intervention, or the paper did not report on a randomised controlled study. For further details, see the Characteristics of excluded studies tables.

We have not considered educational and support interventions to promote BF in the intrapartum and postnatal periods in this review; related Cochrane Reviews (Britton 2007; Dyson 2005) examine these topics.

Risk of bias in included studies

We have provided details of risk of bias in each study in the Characteristics of included studies tables and the methodological quality summary (Figure 1) and methodological quality graph (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Methodological quality summary: review authors' judgements about each methodological quality item for each included study



Figure 1. (Continued)

Schlickau 2005a	?	?	•	?	?	?	?
Schlickau 2005b	?	•	•	?	•	?	•
Serwint 1996	•	?	•	?	+	?	•
Wolfberg 2004	?	?	•	?		?	•
Wong 2014	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

Figure 2. Methodological quality graph: review authors' judgements about each methodological quality item presented as percentages across all included studies



Allocation

Eleven out of 24 included studies (Forster 2004; Kellams 2016; Kistin 1990; Kools 2005; Kronborg 2012; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007; Pate 2009; Raeisi 2014; Serwint 1996; Wong 2014) had adequate sequence generation for randomisation.

Eight out of 24 included studies (Forster 2004; Kellams 2016; Kluka 2004; Lavender 2005; Mattar 2007; Noel-Weiss 2006; Schlickau 2005b; Wong 2014) had adequate allocation concealment.

Blinding

Only 10 included studies (Duffy 1997; Flax 2014; Kellams 2016; Kluka 2004; Kronborg 2012; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007; Noel-Weiss 2006; Wong 2014) had implemented blinding; however, this blinding was only for the outcome assessors. This is perhaps mainly due to the nature of the interventions in that it was not possible to blind both women and educators. All studies were judged at high risk of performance bias except for Finch 2002 where blinding of participants and personnel was unclear.

Incomplete outcome data

Seventeen out of 24 included studies (Flax 2014; Forster 2004; Kellams 2016; Kluka 2004; Kools 2005; Kronborg 2012; Lavender

2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007; Noel-Weiss 2006; Olenick 2010; Pate 2009; Raeisi 2014; Ryser 2004; Schlickau 2005b; Serwint 1996; Wong 2014) had low risk of attrition bias. Two studies (Finch 2002; Wolfberg 2004) had high risk of bias. Five studies (Duffy 1997; Kaplowitz 1983; Kistin 1990; Rossiter 1994; Schlickau 2005a) had unclear risk of bias.

Selective reporting

Since we did not have access to the protocols of most of the included studies, we assessed their risk of bias for selective reporting as unclear. In the current update, we assessed selective reporting as low risk of bias since all expected outcomes reported in the methods were reported in the results (Flax 2014; Kellams 2016; Pate 2009; Raeisi 2014; Wong 2014). We have also re-assessed one trial (Kronborg 2012) for this update and have changed risk of bias from unclear to low risk for selective reporting.

Other potential sources of bias

Three out of 24 included studies (Kaplowitz 1983; Pate 2009; Schlickau 2005a) had unclear risk of other potential sources of biases. All other studies had low risk of other sources of bias.



Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education versus standard care

This review includes 24 studies with 10,056 women. However, for our primary and secondary outcomes only 20 studies with 9789 women contributed data for analyses and for most comparisons, only single studies contributed outcome data. For the first five comparisons in this review we display the included trials according to type of intervention without pooling data. However, for the 'Summary of findings' table we pooled data in order to provide evidence for a summary effect for the main comparison of BF eduction versus standard care. Some studies had more than two treatment arms and are included in more than one comparison (Forster 2004; Kistin 1990; Mattar 2007; Schlickau 2005a) and some studies were cluster-randomised trials (Flax 2014; Kools 2005; Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009; Mattar 2007; Schlickau 2005a), and provided cluster-adjusted odds ratios and have been analysed using the generic inverse variance method.

We have presented effects of interventions for each comparison as follows.

1. One type of BF education versus standard/routine care

For this comparison we have presented evidence according to the type of intervention. We have not pooled the totals for this comparison.

We have reported results from cluster trials that presented clusteradjusted odds ratios separately (Lavender 2005; MacArthur 2009).

Primary outcomes

Duration of any BF

One study (Olenick 2010) involving 165 women reported the comparison of BF education session with standard care. The mean difference (MD) in duration of any BF in the two groups was very similar in both groups (MD 0.0 weeks, 95% CI -2.78 to 2.78 weeks; Analysis 1.1). Another study (Schlickau 2005a) involving 16 women reported the comparison of BF education session with standard care. The intervention group had a slightly longer mean duration of BF compared with the standard care group but the CI was wide and crossed the line of no effect (MD 6.20 months, 95% CI -10.84 to 23.24 months; Analysis 1.1).

Proportion of women any BF at three and six months

Any BF at three months Analysis 1.2: Kluka 2004 compared a BF education workshop with standard care. This study reported data for 185 women and no increases were found in BF at three months (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.24; women = 185). Wong 2014 found no group differences with a BF education session (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.07; women = 469).

Any BF at six months Analysis 1.3: In Kluka 2004 there was very little difference in proportion of women exclusively BF at six months between the BF education group and the standard care group (RR 1.15, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.51; women = 178). Forster 2004 compared practical skills education with attitude education and standard care; there were no group differences in the intervention arms (skills: RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.17; women = 596; attitudes: RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.07; women = 592). Wong 2014 and Raeisi 2014 compared BF education session with standard care (Raeisi

2014 targeted the intervention at partners of pregnant women) and found no evidence of group differences (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.19; women = 569; studies = 2).

Proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months

Exclusive BF at three months Analysis 1.4: Kluka 2004 compared a BF education workshop with standard care. This study reported data for 185 women and no differences were found in exclusive BF at three months (RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.84 to 1.38; women = 185). Olenick 2010 and Wong 2014 both tested BF education sessions against standard care with no evidence of group differences (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.30; women = 637; studies = 2).

Exclusive BF at six months Analysis 1.5: In Kluka 2004 there were 178 women remaining in the sample at six months and proportion of women exclusively BF in each group was very similar (RR 1.13, 95% CI 0.70 to 1.80; women = 178). Forster 2004 tested both skills education and attitudes education with no evidence for an impact on exclusive BF at this time point (skills: RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.69 to 2.05; women = 596; attitudes: RR 1.16, 95% CI 0.67 to 2.01; women = 592). Wong 2014 and Lavender 2005 did not detect group differences after an education session versus standard care (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.31; women = 1094).

Initiation of BF

Single studies of different interventions were unable to show that education improved initiation of BF, apart from one small trial at high risk of attrition bias (Wolfberg 2004). Many trial results favoured the intervention but had wide confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect.

One study (Schlickau 2005b) involving 80 women compared a BF education workshop with standard care. There were no differences in initiation of BF between the two groups (RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.45; women = 80; Analysis 1.6). A study by Wolfberg 2004 involving partners of 59 women comparing peer counselling versus standard care showed an increase in the initiation of BF in the intervention group (RR 1.82, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.93; women = 59; Analysis 1.6). Another study (Forster 2004) compared BF practical skills education versus standard care and BF attitudes education versus standard care. Again, the number of women initiating BF was similar in both groups (skills: RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.04; women = 616; attitude: RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.95 to 1.02; women = 618; Analysis 1.6). Two further studies (Kronborg 2012; Olenick 2010) compared BF education sessions with standard care and showed no differences in initiation rate of BF between the two groups (pooled subtotal RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.09; women = 1327; Analysis 1.6). One study (Kellams 2016) with 346 women compared BF education video with standard care and, again, showed no difference in numbers of women initiating BF (RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.23; Analysis 1.6). Another study (Serwint 1996) with 144 women compared LC with standard care also showed no difference between the groups in initiation of BF (RR 1.33, 95% CI 0.86 to 2.07; Analysis 1.6).

Two cluster-randomised trials reported adjusted odds ratios for this outcome, and reported peer counselling (MacArthur 2009) and group LC session (Lavender 2005) versus standard care. Both studies found women who received the intervention were slightly more likely to initiate BF, however both studies had wide confidence intervals, which crossed the line of no effect (MacArthur 2009 OR 1.11, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.43; women = 2398; Lavender 2005 OR 1.20, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.80; women = 1249; Analysis 1.7).



Duration of exclusive BF

This was not reported in any trials in this comparison.

Secondary outcomes

BF complications (mastitis, nipple trauma and pain)

Duffy 1997 compared LC versus standard care. There was no difference in numbers of women with mastitis between the groups (RR 0.20, 95% CI 0.01 to 4.02; women = 70; Analysis 1.8). However, a reduction in nipple pain as measured by visual analogue scale (VAS) scores was recorded (MD -19.80, 95% CI -23.23 to -16.37; women = 70; Analysis 1.9). The VAS ranged from 0 to 10 with a '0' representing 'no pain' and an increase to a maximum of 10 representing 'pain as bad as it could possibly be'. In the same study, less nipple trauma measured by nipple trauma index (NTI) scores was reported for the LC group (MD 38.65, 95% CI 32.95 to 44.35; women = 70; Analysis 1.10). The possible range of NTI was 0 to 34 with a higher NTI score indicating less trauma. One study (Kronborg 2012) with data for 1162 women compared group training programme with standard care and showed no differences in numbers of women reporting BF problems (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.70 to 1.43; women = 1162; Analysis 1.11).

Secondary outcomes **maternal satisfaction**, **neonatal sepsis**, **taking child to doctor**, **and hospital admission for child** were not reported by any trials in this comparison. Raeisi 2014 reported no difference in infant weight gain between the intervention and control groups but the data was not in a format that could be included in an analysis.

Non-prespecified outcomes

Two studies reported BF practices at time points not pre-specified for this review. One study (Noel-Weiss 2006) compared a BF education workshop with standard care. It involved 92 women and no significant increases were reported for BF at eight weeks (RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.11) and exclusive BF at eight weeks (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.60 to 1.12) (data not shown in data and analyses tables). Another study (Ryser 2004) compared a BF education programme with standard care. It involved 54 women and outcomes were reported at seven days; at this time point significant increases were reported in BF (RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.42) (data not shown in data and analyses tables).

2. One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education

Primary outcomes

Proportion of women any BF at three and six months

Any BF at three months: one study (Kistin 1990) involving 74 women compared group discussion versus individual discussion and reported the women who received group discussion were very slightly more likely to be BF at three months but the CIs for this data were very wide and crossed the line of no effect (RR 2.84, 95% CI 0.61 to 13.18; Analysis 2.1).

Any BF at six months: Forster 2004 compared BF practical skills education versus BF attitudes education. This study reported data for 590 women and found similar proportions of women were BF at six months in each group (RR 1.09, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.28; Analysis 2.2).

Proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months

No trial included in this comparison reported exclusive BF at three months.

Exclusive BF at six months: Forster 2004 also reported no differences between the women receiving practical skills education versus BF attitudes education who were exclusively BF at six months (RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.61 to 1.73; women = 590; Analysis 2.3).

Initiation of BF

One study (Forster 2004) involving 614 women compared BF practical skills education versus BF attitudes education. There was no difference between the numbers of women in each group who initiated BF (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.06; women = 614; Analysis 2.4).

Duration of any BF, duration of exclusive BF, and**proportion of women exclusively** BF**at three months** were not reported in any trials in this comparison.

Secondary outcomes

No secondary outcomes were reported in this comparison.

3. Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education

There were limited trials available for this comparison, with most outcomes not reported.

Primary outcomes

Duration of any BF

One study (Schlickau 2005a) involving 18 women compared BF education session plus commitment to exclusive BF versus BF education session. Although women receiving multiple interventions appeared to breastfeed for slightly more days than those receiving a single intervention, the CI was wide and crossed the line of no effect (MD 8.00 days, 95% CI -6.84 to 22.84 days; Analysis 3.1).

Proportion of women any BF at three and six months

Any BF at six months: the study by Rossiter 1994, involving 175 women compared video plus BF education session with the provision of pamphlets. There was no evidence of a difference in BF at six months between the two groups (RR 1.59, 95% CI 0.86 to 2.94; Analysis 3.2).

Duration of exclusive BF, proportion of women any BF at three months, proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months, and initiation of BF were not reported in any trials in this comparison.

Secondary outcomes

No secondary outcomes were reported in this comparison.

4. Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education

All trials contributing data for this comparison at this update were cluster-randomised trials. We have presented the cluster-adjusted odds ratios as reported (Kools 2005; Mattar 2007).



Primary outcomes

Proportion of women any BF at three and six months

Three months: Kools 2005, with 698 women, compared LC plus BF booklet plus 24-hour free LC versus BF booklet plus phone number for BF questions and problems; the trial reported similar rates of BF in both groups (adjusted OR 0.82, 95% CI 0.58 to 1.16; Analysis 4.1).

Proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months

Three months: Kools 2005 also reported no evidence of a difference in exclusive BF at three months (adjusted OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.09; women = 698; Analysis 4.2). Another study (Mattar 2007) compared BF booklet plus video plus LC versus BF booklet plus video. Again, the study reported no evidence of a difference in exclusive BF at three months (OR 1.40, 95% CI 0.70 to 2.80; women = 150; Analysis 4.2).

Six months: Mattar 2007 reported a marginal increase in exclusive BF in the group receiving a booklet plus video plus LC compared with the group who received a booklet plus video only (OR 2.50, 95% CI 1.00 to 6.25; women = 169; Analysis 4.3).

Duration of any BF, duration of exclusive BF, proportion of women any BF at six months, and **initiation of BF** were not reported in any trials in this comparison.

Secondary outcomes

No secondary outcomes were reported in this comparison.

5. Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care

Two trials (Flax 2014; Mattar 2007) included in this comparison at this update were cluster-randomised trials. For categorical variables we have presented the cluster-adjusted odds ratios as reported in trial publications.

Primary outcomes

Duration of any BF

One study (Schlickau 2005a) involving 16 women compared BF education session plus commitment to BF versus standard care. Women in the BF education session plus commitment group breastfed for more days than those who only received standard care, however, the data for this outcome had a wide CI, which crossed the line of no effect (MD 14.20 days, 95% CI -2.97 to 31.37 days; Analysis 5.1).

One study (Finch 2002) involving 48 women compared LC plus incentive versus standard care; there were no significant differences in duration of BF between intervention and control group (median 12 versus six weeks, data not shown in the analysis).

Proportion of women exclusively BF at three and six months

Exclustive BF at three months Analysis 5.2: one three-arm study (Mattar 2007) involving 234 women. We have reported each intervention arm compared with control, so Mattar 2007 appears twice in the forest plot. The intervention of BF booklet plus video plus LC versus standard care improved rates of exclusive BF (OR 2.60, 95% CI 1.25 to 5.40; women = 159). The intervention arm without a LC but with the BF booklet and video did not have the same effect on exclusive BF at three months (OR 1.80, 95% CI 0.80 to 4.05; women = 159). Flax 2014, involving 461 women,

compared monthly BF sessions plus weekly cell phone message versus standard care and reported women in the intervention group were more likely than those in the standard care group to be exclusively BF at three months (OR 1.80, 95% CI 1.10 to 2.95; women = 390).

Exclusive BF at six months Analysis 5.3: at six months similar patterns of increase in exclusive BF of the three comparisons were presented. Mattar 2007 had marginal results for the intervention arm including an LC, but not otherwise (with LC OR 2.40, 95% CI 1.00 to 5.76; women = 175; without LC OR 0.90, 95% CI 0.30 to 2.70; women = 184). Flax 2014 found no group differences (OR 2.40, 95% CI 1.40 to 4.11; women = 390).

Initiation of BF

One study (Flax 2014), involving 461 women, compared monthly BF sessions plus weekly cell phone message versus standard care and reported that those in the intervention group were more likely to initiate of BF (OR 2.61, 95% CI 1.61 to 4.24; women = 380; Analysis 5.4).

Duration of exclusive BF and **proportion of women any BF at three and six months** were not reported in any trials in this comparison.

Secondary outcomes

No secondary outcomes were reported in this comparison.

6. Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care

There was no evidence that antenatal education of any sort could improve the initiation or duration of BF over the standard care offered to pregnant women. It is important to bear in mind that of the 20 studies contributing data to this review, 13 had BF education or support as part of the standard care comparator. Cluster trials presenting adjusted odds ratios were not included in this comparison. We expected substantial heterogeneity due to the different interventions and settings of trials. We used a randomeffects model for all analyses with high heterogeneity (Analysis 6.1; Analysis 6.4; and Analysis 6.5). For the summary of findings we used pooled effects of any BF education versus standard care.

No differences were observed between groups for any of the following outcomes.

- Initiation of BF (average RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.09; women = 3505; studies = 8; l² = 69%; Analysis 6.1; high-quality evidence)
- Proportion of women exclusively BF at three months (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.25; women = 822; studies = 3; l² = 0%; Analysis 6.2; moderate-quality evidence)
- Proportion of women exclusively BF at six months (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.30; women = 2161; studies = 4; I² = 0%; Analysis 6.3; moderate-quality evidence)
- 4. Proportion of women any BF at three months (average RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.18; women = 654; studies = 2; I² = 60%; Analysis 6.4; low-quality evidence)
- Proportion of women any BF at six months (average RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.23; women = 1636; studies = 4; l² = 61%; Analysis 6.5; high-quality evidence)
- 6. Breastfeeding problems (Duffy 1997 (n = 70) reported no group differences for mastitis, but less nipple pain and less nipple



trauma for women who had a lactation consultant. Kronborg 2012 (n = 1162) reported no group differences as to whether women responded 'yes' when asked about BF problems; Analysis 1.9; Analysis 1.10; Analysis 1.11; Analysis 1.8; moderate-quality evidence)

Sensitivity analysis

For the outcomes included in our 'Summary of findings', there were no trials assessed to be of high risk of bias for allocation concealment. We did not, therefore, conduct sensitivity analysis based on removing trials of high risk of bias.

Subgroup analysis

There were insufficient trials reporting outcome data by maternal education or occupation for us to conduct this analysis. For type of intervention, all of the first five comparisons of this review displayed the type of intervention in forest plots. There were too few trials in each subgroup to compare the groups in a meaningful analysis. For this update, due to time constraints, we have not conducted subgroup analysis by trial setting.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

In this update we have included 24 studies with 10,056 women. Twenty studies involving 9789 women contributed data to the analyses. There was no evidence that antenatal breastfeeding (BF) education of any sort could improve the initiation of BF, the proportion of women with any BF and exclusive BF at three or six months as well as duration of BF over the standard care. However, It is important to mention here that of the 20 studies contributing data to this review, 13 had BF education or support as part of the standard care comparator. We have presented cluster trials with adjusted odds ratios separately in comparisons 4 and 5; most cluster trials did not contribute to the pooled effects in Summary of findings for the main comparison.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Twenty-two out of 24 studies were from high-income countries, mainly the USA, Australia, Canada and the UK. The only two included studies not from a high-income country were from Nigeria and Iran. Applying the results to low- and middle-income countries should be done cautiously. Although we have 24 included studies, there were diverse interventions among these studies. The overall completeness of evidence in this review is therefore too limited to make any strong conclusions or generalisations.

Quality of the evidence

For the comparison BF education versus standard care, we assessed five outcomes according to GRADE methodology. We did not downgrade any trial for lack of blinding, and no included trial had adequate blinding of participants or staff. We did not downgrade for substantial heterogeneity, though we have noted this on the 'Summary of findings' (SoF) table. Evidence for two outcomes was of high quality (initiation rate of BF and proportion of women with any BF at six months). A grade of high quality suggests confidence that the result is robust to future studies. Future trials should also find that antenatal education does not appear to improve uptake of BF or BF at six months. We assessed evidence for two further outcomes as of moderate quality, suggesting some

doubt about the robustness of the observed effect due to small sample size in one analysis (proportion of women exclusive BF at three months) and a wide confidence interval crossing the line of effect in another (proportion of women exclusive BF at six months). Future studies may improve our understanding of the impact of antenatal education on exclusive BF at these time points. Lastly, we assessed evidence for the outcome of proportion of women with any BF at three months as of low quality, having the most uncertainly. Please see Summary of findings for the main comparison for further details.

Potential biases in the review process

We strictly followed the review process recommended by Cochrane (Higgins 2011c). We obtained all relevant studies identified from search results. We independently reviewed all potentially relevant studies and resolved disagreement by discussion. Potential bias in the review process should be minimal.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

A systematic review of professional support interventions for BF concluded that interventions expanding from pregnancy to the intrapartum period and throughout the postnatal period were more effective than interventions concentrating on a shorter period. In addition, intervention packages using various methods of education and support from well-trained professionals are more effective than interventions concentrating on a single method (Hannula 2008). However, this review included not only educational but also support interventions and did not restrict the included studies to randomised controlled trials.

Another Cochrane Review found that health education and peer support interventions can result in some improvements in the number of women beginning to breastfeed (Dyson 2005). This review is currently being updated (Dyson 2005). We we were unable to confirm if peer counselling was significantly better than formal BF education for initiation of BF due to small single trials in our subgroups.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

There was not enough evidence to suggest that any antenatal BF education was more effective than standard care or any other BF education method for improving BF initiation, any BF or exclusive BF at three or six months and BF duration.

Implications for research

There is an urgent need to conduct a high-quality, randomised controlled study with an adequate sample size and that is free from commercial influence to evaluate the effectiveness and adverse effects of antenatal BF education, especially in low- and middleincome countries where BF should have a more significant impact. It is recommended that such trials initially test the effect of individual interventions against no BF educational interventions. The no educational interventions group could be defined as no breastfeeding information or any breastfeeding information that is given in a non-formal and non-standardised way during the course of normal antenatal care consultation and would not involve any formal methods such as videos, written materials,



a specific curriculum, involvement of fathers or a consultation with a lactation consultant or peer counsellor. The intervention and standard care provided in the no interventions group should be described in detail. Outcomes should include the duration of any and exclusive breastfeeding and the proportion with any or exclusive breastfeeding at 3 or 4 and 6 months as well as adverse breastfeeding outcomes such as engorgement and adverse neonatal and infant outcomes such as sepsis and respiratory infections.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank staff from the Australasian Cochrane Centre for technical support. We also sincerely thank Therese Dowswell (TD) for her helpful comments and suggestions for the completion of earlier versions of this review.

The Cochrane Health Promotion and Public Health Field provided a bursary to support Ruth Martis to travel to Australia to attend a review authors' meeting during the development of this review. The bursary was administered by the SEA-ORCHID project. The World Health Organization and Pisake Lumbiganon and Ruth Martis and Malinee Laopaiboon and Jacqueline J Ho and Mohammad Hakimi retain copyright and all other rights in their respective contributions to the manuscript of this review as submitted for publication.

We thank Nancy Medley and Anna Cuthbert, Cochrane Pregnancy and Chilbirth, for their help with this update. This research was supported by a grant from the Evidence and Programme Guidance Unit, Department of Nutrition for Health and Development, World Health Organization. The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the authors and should not be attributed in any manner whatsoever to WHO.

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Duffy 1997 {published data only}

Duffy EP, Percival P, Kershaw E. Positive effects of an antenatal group teaching session on postnatal nipple pain, nipple trauma and breast feeding rates. *Midwifery* 1997;**13**(4):189-96.

Finch 2002 {published data only}

Finch C, Daniel EL. Breastfeeding education program with incentives increases exclusive breastfeeding among urban WIC participants. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2002;**102**(7):981-4.

Flax 2014 {published data only}

Flax V, Negerie M, Usman A, Leatherman S, Daza E, Bentley M. Nigerian women participating in an integrated microcredit and mhealth breastfeeding promotion intervention were more likely to adopt international breastfeeding recommendations. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):885, Abstract no: PO1294.

* Flax VL, Negerie M, Ibrahim AU, Leatherman S, Daza EJ, Bentley ME. Integrating group counseling, cell phone messaging, and participant-generated songs and dramas into a microcredit program increases Nigerian women's adherence to international breastfeeding recommendations. *Journal of Nutrition* 2014;**144**:1120-4.

Forster 2004 {published data only}

* Forster D, McLachlan H, Lumley J, Beanland C, Waldenstrom U, Amir L. Two mid-pregnancy interventions to increase the initiation and duration of breastfeeding: a randomized controlled trial. *Birth* 2004;**31**(3):176-82.

Forster D, McLachlan H, Lumley J, Beanland C, Waldenstrom U, Harris H, et al. ABFAB. Attachment to the breast and family attitudes to breastfeeding. The effect of breastfeeding education in the middle of pregnancy on the initiation and duration of breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2003;**3**:5.

Forster DA, McLachlan HL, Lumley J. Factors associated with breastfeeding at six months postpartum in a group of Australian women. *International Breastfeeding Journal* 2006;**1**:18.

Forster DA, McLachlan HL, Lumley J. Risk factors for early cessation of breastfeeding: results from a randomised controlled trial. Perinatal Society of Australia and New Zealand 10th Annual Congress; 2006 April 3-6; Perth, Australia. 2006:149.

Forster DA, McLachlan HL, Lumley J, Beanland CJ, Waldenstrom U, Short RV, et al. ABFAB: attachment to the breast and family attitudes towards breastfeeding. The effect of breastfeeding education in the middle of pregnancy on the duration of breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. [abstract]. Perinatal Society of Australia and New Zealand 7th Annual Congress; 2003 March 9-12; Tasmania, Australia. 2003:A70.

Kaplowitz 1983 {published data only}

Kaplowitz DD, Olson CM. The effect of an educational program on the decision to breastfeed. *Journal of Nutrition Education* 1983;**15**(2):61-5.

Kellams 2016 {published data only}

Kellams AL, Gurka KK, Hornsby PP, Drake E, Riffon M, Gellerson D, et al. The impact of a prenatal education video on rates of breastfeeding initiation and exclusivity during the newborn hospital stay in a low-income population. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2016;**32**:152-9.

NCT01623128. Prenatal education video study (PEVS). clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01623128 Date first received: 15 June 2012.

Kistin 1990 {published data only}

Kistin N, Benton D, Rao S, Sullivan M. Breast-feeding rates among black urban low-income women: effect of prenatal education. *Pediatrics* 1990;**86**(5):741-6.

Kluka 2004 {published data only}

Kluka SM. A Randomized Controlled Trial to Test the Effect of an Antenatal Educational Intervention on Breastfeeding Duration Among Primiparous Women [thesis]. Vancouver: University of British Columbia, 2004.

Kools 2005 {published data only}

Kools EJ, Thijs C, Kester AD, Van den Brandt PA, De Vries H. A breast-feeding promotion and support program a randomized trial in The Netherlands. *Preventive Medicine* 2005;**40**(1):60-70.

Kronborg 2012 {published data only}

Kronborg H, Maimburg RD, Vaeth M. Antenatal training to improve breast feeding: a randomised trial. *Midwifery* 2012;**28**(6):784-90.

Lavender 2005 {published data only}

Lavender T. Breastfeeding: expectations versus reality. 10th International Conference of Maternity Care Researchers; 2004 June 13-16; Lund, Sweden. 2004:12.

* Lavender T, Baker L, Smyth R, Collins S, Spofforth A, Dey P. Breastfeeding expectations versus reality: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology* 2005;**112**(8):1047-53.

MacArthur 2009 {published data only}

MacArthur C, Jolly K, Ingram L, Freemantle N, Dennis CL, Hamburger R, et al. Antenatal peer support workers and initiation of breast feeding: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2009;**338**:b131.

Mattar 2007 {published data only}

Mattar CN, Chong YS, Chan YS, Chew A, Tan P, Chan YH, et al. Simple antenatal preparation to improve breastfeeding practice: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 2007;**109**(1):73-80.



Noel-Weiss 2006 {published data only}

Noel-Weiss J, Rupp A, Cragg B, Bassett V, Woodend AK. Randomized controlled trial to determine effects of prenatal breastfeeding workshop on maternal breastfeeding self-efficacy and breastfeeding duration. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing* 2006;**35**(5):616-24.

Olenick 2010 {published data only}

Olenick P, Berens P. The effect of structured group prenatal education on breastfeeding confidence, duration, and exclusivity to 12 weeks postpartum. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 2010;**5**(6):334.

* Olenick PL. The Effect of Structured Group Prenatal Education on Breastfeeding Confidence, Duration and Exclusivity to Twelve Weeks Postpartum [Dissertation]. San Francisco: Touro University, 2006.

Olenick PL. The effect of structured group prenatal education on breastfeeding confidence, duration and exclusivity to 12 weeks postpartum. *Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing* 2010;**39**(Suppl S1):S104-S105.

Olenick PL. The effect of structured group prenatal education on breastfeeding confidence, duration, and exclusivity to 12 weeks postpartum. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2011;**27**(1):71-2.

Pate 2009 {published data only}

Pate BL. Effectiveness of Web-based Programs in Improving Breastfeeding Self-efficacy [PhD thesis]. Little Rock: University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, 2009.

Raeisi 2014 {published data only}

Raeisi K, Shariat M, Nayeri F, Raji F, Dalili H. A single center study of the effects of trained fathers' participation in constant breastfeeding. *Acta Medica Iranica* 2014;**52**(9):694-6.

Rossiter 1994 {published data only}

Rossiter JC. The effect of a culture-specific education program to promote breastfeeding among Vietnamese women in Sydney. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 1994;**31**(4):369-79.

Ryser 2004 {published data only}

Ryser FG. Breastfeeding attitudes, intention, and initiation in low-income women: the effect of the best start program. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2004;**20**(3):300-5.

Schlickau 2005a {published data only}

Schlickau J, Wilson M. Development and testing of a prenatal breastfeeding education intervention for Hispanic women. *Journal of Perinatal Education* 2005;**14**(4):24-35.

Schlickau 2005b {published data only}

Schlickau JM. Prenatal breastfeeding education: an intervention for pregnant immigrant Hispanic women [thesis]. Omaha: University of Nebraska, 2005.

Serwint 1996 {published data only}

Serwint JR, Wilson ME, Vogelhut JW, Repke JT, Seidel HM. A randomized controlled trial of prenatal pediatric visits for urban, low-income families. *Pediatrics* 1996;**98**(6 Pt 1):1069-75.

Wolfberg 2004 {published data only}

Wolfberg AJ, Michels KB, Shields W, O'Campo P, Bronner Y, Bienstock J. Dads as breastfeeding advocates: results from a randomized controlled trial of an educational intervention. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2004;**191**(3):708-12.

Wong 2014 {published data only}

NCT01648114. A randomized controlled trial of an antenatal intervention to increase exclusive breastfeeding (ABFS). clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01648114 Date first received: 18 July 2012.

* Wong KL, Fong DYT, Lee ILY, Chu S, Tarrant M. Antenatal education to increase exclusive breastfeeding. A randomized controlled trial. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 2014;**124**(5):961-8.

References to studies excluded from this review

Ahmad 2012 {published data only}

Ahmad MO, Sughra U, Kalsoom U, Imran M, Hadi U. Effect of antenatal counselling on exclusive breastfeeding. *Journal of Ayub Medical College, Abbottabad: JAMC* 2012;**24**(2):116-9.

Aidam 2005 {published data only}

Aidam BA, Perez-Escamilla R, Lartey A. Lactation counseling increases exclusive breast-feeding rates in Ghana. *Journal of Nutrition* 2005;**135**(7):1691-5.

Anderson 2005 {published data only}

Anderson AK, Damio G, Chapman DJ, Perez-Escamilla R. Differential response to an exclusive breastfeeding peer counseling intervention: the role of ethnicity. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2007;**23**(1):16-23.

* Anderson AK, Damio G, Young S, Chapman DJ, Perez-Escamilla R. A randomized trial assessing the efficacy of peer counseling on exclusive breastfeeding in a predominantly Latina low-income community. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 2005;**159**(9):836-41.

Barlow 2006 {published data only}

Barlow A, Varipatis-Baker E, Speakman K, Ginsburg G, Friberg I, Goklish N, et al. Home-visiting intervention to improve child care among American Indian adolescent mothers: a randomized trial. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 2006;**160**(11):1101-7.

Bonuck 2005 {published data only}

Bonuck KA, Freeman K, Trombley M. Randomized controlled trial of a prenatal and postnatal lactation consultant intervention on infant health care use. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 2006;**160**(9):953-60.

* Bonuck KA, Trombley M, Freeman K, McKee D. Randomized, controlled trial of a prenatal and postnatal lactation consultant intervention on duration and intensity of breastfeeding up to 12 months. *Pediatrics* 2005;**116**(6):1413-26.

NCT00619632. Boosting breastfeeding in low-income, multi-ethnic women: a primary care based RCT (BINGO).



clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00619632 Date first received: 4 February 2008.

Bonuck 2013 {published data only}

Bonuck K, Stuebe A, Barnett J, Fletcher J, Bernstein P. Routine, primary-care based interventions to increase breastfeeding : results of two randomized controlled trials. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 2013;**8**(Suppl 1):S-19.

Brent 1995 {published data only}

Brent NB, Redd B, Dworetz A, D'Amico F, Greenberg JJ. Breastfeeding in a low-income population. Program to increase incidence and duration. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 1995; Vol. 149, issue 7:798-803.

Caulfield 1998 {published data only}

Caulfield LE, Gross SM, Bentley ME, Bronner Y, Kessler L, Jensen J, et al. WIC-based interventions to promote breastfeeding among African-American Women in Baltimore: effects on breastfeeding initiation and continuation. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1998;**14**(1):15-22.

Chapman 2004 {published data only}

* Chapman DJ, Damio G, Young S, Perez-Escamilla R. Effectiveness of breastfeeding peer counseling in a lowincome, predominantly Latina population: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 2004;**158**(9):897-902.

Chapman DJ, Perez-Escamilla R. Acculturative type is associated with breastfeeding duration among low-income Latinas. *Maternal and Child Nutrition* 2013;**9**(2):188-98.

Chapman 2013 {published data only}

Chapman DJ, Bermudez-Millan A, Wetzel K, Damio G, Kyer N, Young S, et al. Breastfeeding education and support trial for obese women. *FASEB* 2008;**22**:1080.4.

* Chapman DJ, Morel K, Bermudez-Millan A, Young S, Damio G, Perez-Escamilla R. Breastfeeding education and support trial for overweight and obese women: a randomized trial. *Pediatrics* 2013;**131**(1):e162-70.

Edwards 2013a {published data only}

Edwards C, Thullen J, Korfmacher J, Lantos D, Henson G, Hans L. Breastfeeding and complementary food: randomized trial of community doula home visiting. *Pediatrics* 2013;**132**:S160-S166.

Edwards 2013b {published data only}

Edwards RA, Bickmore T, Jenkins L, Foley M, Manjourides J. Use of an interactive computer agent to support breastfeeding. *Maternal & Child Health Journal* 2013;**17**(10):1961-8.

Ekstrom 2006 {published data only}

Ekstrom A, Widstrom AM, Nissen E. Does continuity of care by well-trained breastfeeding counselors improve a mother's perception of support?. *Birth* 2006;**33**(2):123-30.

Eneroth 2007 {published data only}

Eneroth H, El Arifeen S, Kabir I, Persson LA, Lonnerdal B, Hossain MB, et al. Exclusive breastfeeding and infant iron and zinc status, the MINIMat study Bangladesh [abstract]. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2007;**23**(1):79-80.

Finch 2015 {published data only}

Finch M, Yoong SL, Thomson RJ, Seward K, Cooney M, Jones J, et al. A pragmatic randomised controlled trial of an implementation intervention to increase healthy eating and physical activity-promoting policies, and practices in centre-based childcare services: study protocol. *BMJ Open* 2015;**5**(5):e006706.

Gijsbers 2006 {published data only}

Gijsbers B, Mesters I, Knottnerus JA, Kester ADM, Van Schayck CP. The success of an educational program to promote exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months in families with a history of asthma: a randomized controlled trial. *Pediatric Asthma* 2006;**19**(4):214-22.

Graffy 2004 {published data only}

Graffy J, Taylor J. What information, advice, and support do women want with breastfeeding?. *Birth* 2005;**32**(3):179-86.

* Graffy J, Taylor J, Williams A, Eldridge S. Randomised controlled trial of support from volunteer counsellors for mothers considering breast feeding. *BMJ* 2004;**328**(7430):26.

Grossman 1988 {published data only}

Grossman ER. Beer, breast-feeding, and the wisdom of old wives. *JAMA* 1988;**259**(7):1016.

Hall 2007 {published data only}

Hall WA, Hauck Y. Getting it right: Australian primiparas' views about breastfeeding: a quasi-experimental study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2007;**44**(5):786-95.

Hanafi 2014 {published data only}

Hanafi MI, Shalaby SAH, Falatah N, El-Ammari H. Impact of health education on knowledge of, attitude to and practice of breastfeeding among women attending primary health care centres in Almadinah Almunawwarah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: controlled pre-post study. *Journal of Taibah University Medical Sciences* 2014;**9**(3):187-93.

Howell 2014 {published data only}

Howell EA, Bodnar-Deren S, Balbierz A, Parides M, Bickell N. An intervention to extend breastfeeding among black and Latina mothers after delivery. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 2014;**210**:239.e1-5.

Isselmann 2006 {*published data only*}

Isselmann KF, Collins B, McCoy A. A prospective efficacy trial of a brief breastfeeding promotion intervention to prevent postpartum smoking relapse. American Public Health Association 134th Annual Meeting & Exposition; 2006 Nov 4-8; Boston, MA. 2006.

Jahan 2013 {published data only}

Jahan K, Roy SK, Israt S, Ferdouse K, Salam SB. Impact of nutrition education on pregnancy weight gain and birth outcome. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):756, Abstract no: PO1043.



Jenner 1988 {published data only}

Jenner S. The influence of additional information, advice and support on the success of breast feeding in working class primiparas. *Child: Care, Health and Development* 1988;**14**(5):319-28.

Johnston 2001 {published data only}

Johnston SL. Associations with age at natural menopause in Blackfeet women. *American Journal of Human Biology* 2001;**13**(4):512-20.

Kafatos 1991 {published data only}

Kafatos AG, Tsitoura S, Pantelakis SN, Doxiadis SA. Maternal and infant health education in a rural Greek community. *Hygie* 1991;**10**(1):32-7.

Kamau-Mbuthia 2013 {published data only}

* Kamau-Mbuthia E, Mbugua S, Webb Girard A, Kalungu S, Sarange C, Lou W, et al. Cell phone based peer counseling to support exclusive breastfeeding is associated with more frequent help and decreased breastfeeding problems. *Annals* of Nutrition & Metabolism 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):196-7, Abstract no: 0079.

Mbugua S, Kamau-Mbuthia E, Webb A, Kalungu S, Sarange C, Lou W, et al. Process indicators for a randomized trial of cell phone based peer counseling to support exclusive breastfeeding in Kenya. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):693, Abstract no: PO905.

Mbugua S, Kamau-Mbuthia E, Webb Girard A, Kalungu S, Sarange C, Lou W, et al. Process indicators for a randomized trial of cell phone based peer counseling to support exclusive breastfeeding in Kenya. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):751, Abstract no: PO1033.

Sellen D, Mbugua S, Webb Girard A, Kalungu S, Sarange C, Lou W, et al. A randomized controlled trial indicates benefits of cell phone based peer counseling to support exclusive breastfeeding in Kenya. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):751, Abstract no: PO1032.

Sellen DW, Kamau-Mbuthia E, Mbugua S, Webb Girard AL, Lou W, Dennis CL, et al. Lessons learned in providing peer support through cell phones and group meetings to increase exclusive breastfeeing in Kenya. Proceedings of the 16th ISRHML Conference "Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. Science and Practice"; 2012 September 27th - October 1st; Trieste, Italy. 2012:Abstract no. A18.

Kimani-Murage 2013 {published data only}

Kimani-Murage EW, Kyobutungi C, Ezeh AC, Wekesah F, Wanjohi M, Muriuki P, et al. Effectiveness of personalised, home-based nutritional counselling on infant feeding practices, morbidity and nutritional outcomes among infants in Nairobi slums: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials [https://trialsjournal.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/1745-6215-14-445 accessed 26/07/16]* 2013;**14**:445.

Kimani-Murage 2015 {published data only}

Kimani-Murage EW, Kimiywe J, Kabue M, Wekesah F, Matiri E, Muhia N, et al. Feasibility and effectiveness of the baby friendly community initiative in rural Kenya: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2015;**16**(1):431.

Kupratakul 2010 {published data only}

Kupratakul J, Taneepanichskul S, Voramongkol N, Phupong V. A randomized controlled trial of knowledge sharing practice with empowerment strategies in pregnant women to improve exclusive breastfeeding during the first six months postpartum. *Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand* 2010;**93**(9):1009-18.

Loh 1997 {published data only}

Loh NR, Kelleher CC, Long S, Loftus BG. Can we increase breast feeding rates?. *Irish Medical Journal* 1997;**90**(3):100-1.

Mattar 2003 {published data only}

Mattar CN. Breastfeeding: it's an important gift. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2003;**102**(6):1414.

Memmott 2006 {published data only}

Memmott MM, Bonuck KA. Mother's reactions to a skillsbased breastfeeding promotion intervention. *Maternal & Child Nutrition* 2006;**2**(1):40-50.

Moore 2007 {published data only}

Moore SE, Prentice AM, Coward WA, Wright A, Frongillo EA, Fulford AJ, et al. Use of stable-isotope techniques to validate infant feeding practices reported by Bangladeshi women receiving breastfeeding counseling. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2007;**85**(4):1075-82.

Morrow 1999 {published data only}

Morrow AL, Guerrero ML, Shults JJ, Lutter CJ, Ruiz-Palacios G, Morrow RC, et al. Efficacy of home-based peer counselling to promote exclusive breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 1999;**353**(9160):1226-31.

Muirhead 2006 {published data only}

Muirhead PE, Butcher G, Rankin J, Munley A. The effect of a programme of organised and supervised peer support on the initiation and duration of breastfeeding: a randomised trial. *British Journal of General Practice* 2006;**56**(524):191-7.

NCT01383070 {published data only}

CTRI/2011/06/001822. Effectiveness of cell phone counseling to improve breast feeding indicators. ctri.nic.in/Clinicaltrials/ pmaindet2.php?trialid=3060 Date first received: 21 June 2011.

* NCT01383070. Effectiveness of cell phone counseling to improve breast feeding indicators. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01383070 Date first received: 24 June 2011.

Nekavand 2014 {published data only}

Nekavand M, Hoorsan R, Kerami A, Zohoor A. Effect of exclusive breast feeding education on breast-feeding self-efficacy and maternal stress. *Research Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2014;**7**(1):1-5.



Ochola 2013a {published data only}

ochrane

Ochola A, Labadarios D, Nduati W. Impact of counselling on exclusive breast-feeding practices in a poor urban setting in Kenya: a randomized controlled trial. *Public Health Nutrition* 2013;**16**(10):1732-40.

Ochola 2013b {published data only}

Ochola S, Demetre L, Nduati R. Potentials and barriers to exclusive breastfeeding among women in an urban lowresource setting in Nairobi, Kenya: a qualitative study. *Annals* of Nutrition & Metabolism 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):808, Abstract no: PO3318.

Otsuka 2014 {published data only}

Otsuka K, Kitamura T, Jimba M. Can breastfeeding enhance maternal-infant bonding?. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 2012;**7**(Suppl 1):S-7.

* Otsuka K, Taguri M, Dennis CL, Wakutani K, Awano M, Yamaguchi T, et al. Effectiveness of a breastfeeding self-efficacy intervention: do hospital practices make a difference?. *Maternal* & Child Health Journal 2014;**18**(1):296-306.

Petrova 2009 {published data only}

Petrova A, Ayers C, Stechna S, Gerling JA, Mehta R. Effectiveness of exclusive breastfeeding promotion in low-income mothers: a randomized controlled study. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 2009;**4**(2):63-9.

Rea 1999 {published data only}

Rea MF, Venancio SI. Assessment of the breastfeeding counselling course WHO/UNICEF. *Jornal de Pediatria* 1999;**75**(2):112-8.

Redman 1995 {published data only}

Redman S, Watkins J, Evans L, Lloyd D. Evaluation of an Australian intervention to encourage breast feeding in primiparous women. *Health Promotion International* 1995;**10**(2):101-13.

Reeve 2004 {published data only}

Reeve JR, Gull SE, Johnson MH, Hunter S, Streather M. A preliminary study on the use of experiential learning to support women's choices about infant feeding. European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology 2004; Vol. 113, issue 2:199-203.

Reifsnider 1997 {published data only}

Reifsnider E, Eckhart D. Prenatal breastfeeding education: its effect on breastfeeding among WIC participants. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1997;**13**(2):121-5.

Ross 1983 {published data only}

Ross SM, Loening WE, Van Middelkoop A. Breast-feeding evaluation of a health education programme. *South African Medical Journal* 1983;**64**(10):361-3.

Sandy 2009 {published data only}

Sandy JM, Anisfeld E, Ramirez E. Effects of a prenatal intervention on breastfeeding initiation rates in a

Latina immigrant sample. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2009;**25**(4):404-11.

Sciacca 1995 {published data only}

* Sciacca JP, Dube DA, Phipps BL, Ratliff MI. A breast feeding education and promotion program: effects on knowledge, attitudes, and support for breast feeding. *Journal of Community Health* 1995;**20**(6):473-90.

Sciacca JP, Phipps BL, Dube DA, Ratliff MI. Influences on breastfeeding by lower-income women: an incentive-based, partnersupported educational program. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 1995; Vol. 95, issue 3:323-8.

Spinelli 2013 {published data only}

Spinelli MG, Endicott J, Goetz RR. Increased breastfeeding rates in black women after a treatment intervention. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 2013;**8**(6):479-84.

Srinivas 2015 {published data only}

* Srinivas GL, Benson M, Worley S, Schulte E. A clinic-based breastfeeding peer counselor intervention in an urban, lowincome population: interaction with breastfeeding attitude. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2015;**31**(1):120-8.

Srinivas GL, Worley S. Effect of office-based peer counselor on breastfeeding rates in an urban low-income clinic. Pediatric Academic Societies Annual Meeting; 2013 May 4-7; Washington DC, USA. 2013.

Stockdale 2008 {published data only}

Stockdale J, Sinclair M, Kernohan G, Keller JM, Dunwoody L, Cunningham JB, et al. Feasibility study to test Designer Breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. *Evidence Based Midwifery* 2008;**6**(3):76-82.

Stuebe 2016 {published data only}

Stuebe AM, Bonuck K, Adatorwovor R, Schwartz TA, Berry D. A tailored breastfeeding support intervention for women with gestational diabetes. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2016;**214**(1 Suppl):S68, Abstract no: 97.

Su 2007 {published data only}

Su LL, Chong YS, Chan YH, Chan YS, Fok D, Tun KT, et al. Antenatal education and postnatal support strategies for improving rates of exclusive breast feeding: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2007;**335**(7620):596.

Taddei 2000 {published data only}

Taddei JA, Westphal MF, Venancio S, Bogus C, Souza S. Breastfeeding training for health professionals and resultant changes in breastfeeding duration. *Sao Paulo Medical Journal. Revista Paulista de Medicina* 2000;**118**:185-91.

Uauy 2013 {published data only}

Uauy R. Diet, physical activity and breastfeeding intervention on maternal nutrition, offspring growth and development. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01916603 Date first received: 4 July 2013. [NCT01916603]



Walkup 2009 {published data only}

Walkup JT, Barlow A, Mullany BC, Pan W, Goklish N, Hasting R, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a paraprofessional-delivered in-home intervention for young reservation-based American Indian mothers. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 2009;**48**(6):591-601.

Waller 1946 {published data only}

Waller H. The early failure of breast feeding. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 1946;**21**:1-12.

Wambach 2009 {published data only}

Wambach K, Rojjanasrirat W, Williams Domian E, Aaronson L, Breedlove G, Yeh HW. Effects of a peer counselor and lactation consultant on breastfeeding initiation and duration. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2009;**25**(1):101-2.

Webb 2013 {published data only}

Webb Girard A, Kamau-Mbuthia E, Mbugua S, Kalungu S, Sarange C, Lou W, et al. Infant medication, illness and growth in a randomized controlled trial of exclusive breastfeeding support in Kenya. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;**63**(Suppl 1):752, Abstract no: PO1034.

Wen 2011 {published data only}

Wen LM, Baur LA, Rissel C, Simpson JM. A randomized controlled trial of an early intervention on childhood obesity: results from the first 12 months. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)* 2011;**19**(Suppl 1):S67.

Westdahl 2008 {published data only}

Westdahl CM, Kershaw T, Schindler-Rising S, Ickovics J. Group prenatal care improves breastfeeding initiation and duration: results from a two-site randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2008;**24**(1):96-7.

Westphal 1995 {published data only}

Westphal MF, Taddei JAC, Venancio SI, Bogus CM. Breastfeeding training for health professionals and resultant institutional changes. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 1995;**73**(4):461-8.

Wiles 1984 {published data only}

Wiles LS. The effect of prenatal breastfeeding education on breastfeeding success and maternal perception of the infant. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing* 1984;**13**(4):253-7.

Wockel 2009 {published data only}

* Wockel A, Abou-Dakn M. Influence of the partner on breastfeeding duration and breast diseases during lactation. Results of an intervention study [Einfluss des partners auf stilldauer und stillprobleme. Ergebnisse einer interventionsstudie]. *Gynakologische Praxis* 2009;**33**(4):643-9.

Wockel A, Abou-Dakn M. Influence of the partner on breastfeeding duration and breast diseases during lactation. Results of an intervention study [Einfluss des partners auf stilldauer und stillprobleme. Ergebnisse einer interventionsstudie]. *Padiatrische Praxis* 2011;**77**(1):125-31.

References to studies awaiting assessment

Bahri 2013 {published data only}

Bahri N, Bagheri S, Erfani M, Rahmani R, Tolidehi H. The comparison of workshop-training and booklet-offering on knowledge, health beliefs and behavior of breastfeeding after delivery. *Iranian Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Infertility* 2013;**15**(32):14-22.

Bastani 2009 {published data only}

Bastani F, Rahmatnejad L. The effects of a prenatal workshop integrated with telephone counselling on exclusive breastfeeding adherence among primiparous women. *Journal of Nursing and Midwifery of Urmia University of Medical Sciences* 2009;**7**(1):1-7.

References to ongoing studies

Maycock 2015 {published data only}

Maycock BR, Scott JA, Hauck YL, Burns SK, Robinson S, Giglia R, et al. A study to prolong breastfeeding duration: design and rationale of the Parent Infant Feeding Initiative (PIFI) randomised controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 2015;**15**:159.

Additional references

Acheson 1995

Acheson L. Family violence and breastfeeding. *Archives of Family Medicine* 1995;**4**:650-2.

Adams 2001

Adams C. Breastfeeding trends at a community breastfeeding center: an evaluative survey. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing* 2001;**30**:392-400.

Amitay 2016

Amitay EL, Raz GD, Keinan-Boker L. Breastfeeding, other early life exposures and childhood leukemia and lymphoma. *Nutrition and Cancer* 2016;**68**(6):968-77.

Arenz 2004

Arenz S, Ruckerl R, Koletzko B, Von Kries R. Breast-feeding and childhood obesity - a systematic review. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders* 2004;**28**(10):1247-56.

Ball 2001

Ball TM, Bennett DM. The economic impact of breastfeeding. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 2001;**48**:253-62.

Blaauw 1994

Blaauw R. Risk factors for development of osteoporosis in a South African population. *South African Medical Journal* 1994;**84**:328-32.

Britton 2007

Britton C, McCormick FM, Renfrew MJ, Wade A, King SE. Support for breastfeeding mothers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001141.pub3]



Chowdhury 2015

Chowdhury R, Sinha B, Sankar MJ, Taneja S, Bhandari N, Rollins N, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatrica* 2015;**104**:96-113.

Cohen 2002

Cohen R, Lange L, Slusser W. A description of a male-focused breastfeeding promotion corporate lactation program. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2002;**18**:61-5.

Deeks 2011

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Dettwyler 1992

Dettwyler KA, Fisherman C. Infant feeding practices and growth. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 1992;**21**:171-204.

Dewey 2001

Dewey KG. Nutrition, growth, and complementary feeding of the breastfed infant. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 2001;**48**:87-104.

Dyson 2005

Dyson L, McCormick F, Renfrew MJ. Interventions for promoting the initiation of breastfeeding. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001688.pub2]

Falceto 2004

Falceto OG, Giugliani ERJ, Fernandes CLC. Couples' relationships and breastfeeding: is there an association?. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2004;**20**:46-55.

Griffiths 2005

Griffiths LJ, Tate AR, Dezateux C. The contribution of parental and community ethnicity to breastfeeding practices: evidence from the millennium cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2005;**34**:1378-86.

Hannula 2008

Hannula L, Kaunonen M, Tarkka M-T. A systematic review of professional support interventions for breastfeeding. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2008;**17**:1132-43.

Hanson 2002

Hanson LA, Korotkova M, Haversen L. Breastfeeding, a complex support system for the offspring. *Pediatrics International* 2002;**44**:347-52.

Harder 2005

Harder T, Bergmann RL, Kallischnigg G, Plagemann A. Duration of breastfeeding and risk of overweight: a meta-analysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2005;**162**(5):397-403.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327**(7414):557-60.

Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Higgins 2011a

Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC (editors). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011.. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2011b

Higgins JPT, Deeks JJ, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 16: Special topics in statistics. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2011c

Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Hoddinott 2000

Hoddinott P, Pill R, Hood K. Identifying which women will stop breastfeeding before three months in primary care: a pragmatic study. *British Journal of General Practice* 2000;**50**:888-91.

Horta 2015

Horta BL, Loret de Mola C, Victora CG. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatrica* 2015;**104**:30-7.

Innis 2001

Innis SM, Gilley J, Werker J. Are human milk long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids related to visual and neural development in breastfed term infants?. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2001;**139**:532-8.

Jordan 1993

Jordan PL, Wall VR. Supporting the father when an infant is breastfed. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1993;**9:**31-4.

Kramer 2012

Kramer MS, Kakuma R. Optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 8. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003517]

Li 2004

Li J, Zhang M, Scott JA, Binns CW. Factors associated with the initiation and duration of breastfeeding by Chinese mothers in Perth, Western Australia. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2004;**20**:188-95.

Lund-Adams 1996

Lund-Adams M, Heywood P. Australian breastfeeding rates: the challenge of monitoring. *Breastfeeding Review* 1996;**4**:69-71.

McLeod 2002

McLeod D, Pullon S, Cookson T. Factors influencing continuation of breastfeeding in a cohort of women. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2002;**18**:335-43.



Owen 2005

Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Smith GD, Cook DG. Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. *Pediatrics* 2005;**115**(5):1367-7.

Quigley 2012

Quigley MA, Hockley C, Carson C, Kelly Y, Renfrew MJ, Sacker A. Breastfeeding is associated with improved child cognitive development: a population-based cohort study. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2012;**160**(1):25-32.

Raj 1998

Raj V, Plichta S. The role of social support in breastfeeding promotion: a literature review. *Journal of Human Lactation* 1998;**14**:41-5.

Renfrew 2012

Renfrew M.J, Pokhrel S, Quigley M, McCormick F, Fox-Rushby J, Dodds R, et al. Preventing disease and saving resources: the potential contribution of increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK. London: UNICEF 2012.

RevMan 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Sankar 2015

Sankar MJ, Sinha B, Chowdhury R, Bhandari N, Taneja S, Martines J, et al. Optimal breastfeeding practices and infant and child mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Pædiatrica* 2015;**104**:3-13.

Sikorski 2002

Sikorski J, Renfrew, MJ, Pindoria S, Wade A. Support for breastfeeding mothers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2002, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001141.pub3]

Stuebe 2005

Stuebe AM, Rich-Edwards JW, Willett JE, Michels KB. Duration of lactation and incidence of type 2 diabetes. *JAMA* 2005;**294**:2601-10.

Sullivan 2004

Sullivan ML, Leathers SJ, Kelley MA. Family characteristics associated with duration of breastfeeding during early infancy among primiparas. *Journal of Human Lactation* 2004;**20**:196-205.

Susin 1999

Susin LRO, Giugliani ERJ, Kummer SC, Marciel M, Simon C, da Silveira LC. Does breastfeeding knowledge increase breastfeeding rates?. *Birth* 1999;**26**:149-56.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

UNICEF 1998

UNICEF. The State of the World's Children. Focus on nutrition 1998. www.unicef.org/sowc98/silent5.htm (accessed 2006) 1998.

UNICEF 2005

UNICEF. 15th Anniversary of the Innocenti Declaration on the protection, promotion and support of breastfeeding report 2005. www.unicef.org/media/media_30011.html (accessed 2006) 2005.

Virden 1988

Virden SF. The relationship between infant feeding method and maternal role attainment. *Journal of Nurse Midwifery* 1988;**33**:31-5.

Wagner 2002

Wagner CL. Breastfeeding rates at an urban medical university after initiation of an educational program. *Southern Medical Journal* 2002;**95**:909-13.

WHO 1991

World Health Organization. Indicators for assessing breastfeeding practices. Report of an informal meeting. WHO/ CDD/SER/91.14 1991.

WHO 2001

World Health Organization. The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. WHO report of an expert consultation. 2001; WHO/NHD/01.09WHO/FCH/CAH/01.24:1-6. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2001.

Wold 2000

Wold AE, Adlerberth I. Breastfeeding and the intestinal microflora of the infant: implications for protection against infectious diseases. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 2000;**478**:77-93.

References to other published versions of this review

Lumbiganon 2011

Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M. Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 11. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006425.pub2]

Lumbiganon 2012

Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M. Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 9. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006425.pub3]

* Indicates the major publication for the study



Duffy 1997					
Methods	RCT. Using a sealed env the experimental group ucational session.	velope containing group allocation in blocks of 12, with 6 in the control and 6 in p. Random assignment was carried out by the lactation consultant giving the ed-			
Participants	Number of women rai	ndomised: 75			
	Inclusion criteria Attended antenatal cla Verbal and written exp Explained the complete	sses in the study hospital, and intended to BF lanation was given ely voluntary and confidential nature of the study			
	Exclusion criteria				
	Delivered less than 37 with medical complication	weeks tions			
Interventions	Experimental group (n = 37)			
	An additional 1-h teach tion was through a lact session was correct po	ing session for nulliparas more than 36 weeks pregnant. The teaching interven- ation consultant, not involved in the data collection. The content of the teaching sitioning and attachment of the baby on the breast for feeding.			
	Control group (n = 38)				
	Standard educational	programme of the study hospital			
Outcomes	Outcome measures (dichotomous)				
	Primary				
	1. Incidence of BF at 6 weeks postpartum				
	Secondary				
	1. Mastitis				
	Outcome measures (continuous)				
	Primary				
	1. LATCH score				
	Secondary				
	 Nipple pain (VAS) Nipple trauma (NTI 	score)			
Notes	Loss of participants to Blinding: outcome asse This study was conduct	follow-up: < 10% essors ted in Western Australia			
Risk of bias					
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement			
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described			
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Sealed envelope (not described whether it was opaque or not)			



Duffy 1997 (Continued)		
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Only outcome assessors
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No details available
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Methods	RCT				
Participants	Number of women rai	Number of women randomised: 60			
	Inclusion criteria				
	English speaking, preg	nant, HIV negative women			
	Exclusion criteria				
	Not specified				
Interventions	Experimental group (r	n = 30)			
	BF education by trained	d LC, incentive, instruction and discussion with handout			
	Control group (n = 30)	Control group (n = 30)			
	Prenatal educational re	egarding benefit and barriers to BF			
Outcomes	1. Duration of BF				
	2. Feeding intentions				
Notes	This study was conduct	ted in New York, USA			
Risk of bias					
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement			
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No information available			
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No information available			



Finch 2002 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No information available
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No information available
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Loss to follow-up in intervention group 36.7% (11/30), in control group 3.3% (1/30)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Flax 2014

Methods	Cluster-RCT
Participants	Setting: microcredit meetings, Bauchi state, Nigeria, Africa
	77 microcredit meeting groups with 461 pregnant women, aged 15-45 years, attending monthly micro- credit meetings for 7-10 months
	39 meeting groups including 229 women were randomised to receive the monthly group BF learning sessions
	38 meeting groups including 232 women were randomised to receive standard microcredit group meeting with no BF learning sessions
Interventions	Experimental group (229 women)
	Monthly group BF learning sessions including weekly cell phone BF text and voice messages to cell phone provided to each small microcredit group and monthly face-to-face BF information during mi- crocredit monthly meeting. Information given included: exclusive BF to 6 months; initiation of BF with- in 1 h of birth; giving only breast milk not fluids during the first 3 days of life for 7-10 months The mes- sages were generated via songs and dramas by participants
	Adult learning techniques and participatory principles used with 1-3 key messages each session includ- ing counselling cards for the intervention
	Control group (232 women)
	Women in the control clusters received only standard microcredit group meeting with no BF interven- tions
Outcomes	1. Exclusive BF to 1, 3, and 6 months
	 Initiation of BF within 1 h of delivery Use of only colostrum or breast milk during the first 3 d of life
Notes	
Risk of bias	



Flax 2014 (Continued)

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Block randomisation, process not described, other than it happened at the lev- el of the monthly community meeting (clusters)
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, but highly unlikely that blinding was possible
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Baseline and final survey interviews were conducted by an independent team of trained data collectors unaware of the clients' study arm assignment
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Eligible clients (n = 229 intervention, n = 232 control) were in the randomised meeting groups. At follow-up, 196 (86%) and 194 (84%) clients remained in the intervention and control arms, respectively
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Pre-specified outcomes were published and reported on
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Forster 2004		
Methods	RCT	
	Random allocation to a control group or 1 or 2 intervention groups, randomised by an external com- puterised system accessed by telephone by a research midwife	
Participants	Number of women randomised: 984	
	Inclusion criteria Women booked as public patients. Women who were primiparas. Women pregnant between 16 and 24 weeks. Women able to read and write in English	
	Exclusion criteria Women with physical problems that prevented BF. Women who chose private obstetric care. Women choosing to give birth at birth centre	
Interventions	Experimental group	
	Group 1 (n = 327) : 1.5-h session on practical BF using teaching aids. Latch-on technique demonstrat- ed with dolls and knitted breasts, also BF complications and management. Plus access standard care available	
	Group 2 (n = 329) : two 1-h sessions that focused on changing attitudes to BF. Women were encour- aged to bring their partners or a significant other. Session 1 included information about BF advantages, views and attitudes of participants, their friends and families and society. For session 2, participants were encouraged to interview their own mother or her partner's mother about attitudes of BF, which then was reflected and discussed in this session. Access standard care available	
	Control group (n = 328)	



Forster 2004 (Continued)	Able to access standard care, which included formal BF education sessions etc		
Outcomes	Duration of any BF at 2-4 d, excluded babies not yet feeding.		
	Duration of exclusive BF at 2-4 days, excluded babies yet not feeding		
	Number of mothers any BF at 6 months		
	Number of mothers exclusive BF at 6 months		
Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up and reasons: < 10%		
	Blinding: unclear		
	Intention-to-treat analysis: used		
	Each intervention group was compared only with the group of women allocated to standard care; they were not compared with each other		
	For this review we have presented separate intervention groups in Comparison 1; where we have totals in the analysis in Comparison 6 we have split the control group between the intervention arms		
	Study was conducted in Melbourne, Australia		

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	"A computerized system of biased urn randomisation was accessed by tele- phone by the research midwife to ascertain women's group allocation."
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	"A computerized system of biased urn randomisation was accessed by tele- phone by the research midwife to ascertain women's group allocation."
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, but very unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	The follow-up rate in practical skill, attitudes, standard care we re 91%, 90% and 91%, respectively
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Kaplowitz 1983

Methods	RCT	
Participants	44 consecutive women from 2 upstate New York Women, Infants and Children (WIC) programmes, at least 18 years old, in 4th to 6th month of pregnancy, primigravida or women who had bottle-fed previ-	



Kaplowitz 1983 (Continued)	ous children or who previously had an unsuccessful BF experience were randomly assigned to experi- mental (21 women) or control (23 women) groups.			
Interventions	Experimental group (21 women)			
	5 pamphlets providing information on the benefits of BF, basic physiology of lactation, proper nursing technique were mailed to the women's homes 1 at a time over 5 consecutive weeks.			
	Control group (23 women)			
	Did not receive pamphlets			
Outcomes	 Women's knowledge about nursing after the intervention Attitude toward BF before and after the intervention 			
	These outcomes were not relevant to the review objective.			
Notes	This study was conducted in New York. No information about BF practice available			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described		
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, but unlikely to be blinded		
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described		
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described		
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available		
Other bias	Unclear risk	Inadequate information		

Kellams 2016

Methods	RCT
Participants	Setting: At 4 participating prenatal clinics between the University of Virginia (UVA) Health System and the Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU) Health System, Virginia in the USA from 2009 to 2012
	Inclusion criteria


Kellams 2016 (Continued)	Pregnant women of 24-41 weeks' gestation who were WIC-eligible (income of 185% or less of the feder- al poverty income guidelines)		
	Exclusion criteria		
	Women with multiple-gestation pregnancy, any known contraindication to BF (e.g. HIV infection, drug use, or receipt of chemotherapy), or their primary language was not English		
	Total numbers of 522 e how many randomised	ligible pregnant women were enrolled (459 at UVA, 63 at VCU). No information of women of each group was reported	
Interventions	Experimental group		
	A 25-min educational BF video (<i>Better Breastfeeding</i> , Injoy Productions, 2008) provided general in mation about BF, including importance, latch, hunger cues, positioning, sore nipples, engorgeme how breast milk is made, and lifestyle issues.		
	Total number analysed	: 249	
	Control/Comparison intervention		
	A 20-min educational video about nutrition during pregnancy (Healthy		
	<i>Pregnancy Nutrition</i> , Injoy Productions, 2007). It covered topics including healthy diet and the in tance of exercise during pregnancy. Total number analysed: 248		
Outcomes	Breastfeeding initiation		
	Time of first feeding		
	Any infant complication (hypoglycaemia, rule-out sepsis, hypothermia, transient tachypnoea of the newborn, other breathing problems, cardiac problem, hyperbilirubinaemia, and others.) Unlikely to related to the intervention. Also for maternal complications. Infant length of stay in newborn nursery only and never NICU and/or intermediate care Nursery (ICN		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	A computer-generated block randomisation sequence using random block sizes, stratified by prenatal clinic, was used.	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	One member of the study team with no direct contact with participants pre- pared all of the consecutively-numbered, sealed, opaque envelopes, which the research assistant opened just prior to loading the video for the participant to view.	

Blinding of participants High risk Not described, but highly unlikely that blinding was possible and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes

Blinding of outcome as-
sessment (detection bias)Low riskResearch assistants abstracting data were blinded to the group to which the
participant was assigned.All outcomesAll outcomes

Kellams 2016 (Continued)		
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Eligible women were 1580, 522 were randomised but there was no information of assigned number to each group. Analysis was done in 497 women (249 in in- tervention and 248 in control) account for 95% of the randomised women
		However, BF outcomes were analysed in 346 (70%; 174/249 for intervention and 69%; 172/248 for control) These were only those who gave BF
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Pre-specified outcomes were published and reported on.
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Kistin 1990	
Methods	RCT
	Women in Monday clinic were randomised with a random number table into 2 intervention groups.
	Friday clinic became control group (not randomised, therefore data could not be used, both interven- tion groups data could be compared, as they were randomised)
Participants	Number of women randomised: 74
	Inclusion criteria
	Women 24 weeks' gestation or less Black women born in the USA
	Exclusion criteria
	None mentioned
Interventions	2 types of prenatal education. Individual BF and antenatal BF class
	Experimental groups
	Intervention group 1 (38 women): antenatal group BF class, 50-80 min, at least 1 session discussing myths, problems and benefits of BF
	Intervention group 2 (36 women): individual pre-counselling with a nurse practitioner or paediatrician, one-to-one, 15-30 minutes, between 30-40 weeks' gestation, similar topics discussed in IG1
	Control group
	Normal antenatal care. No additional information but not randomised, therefore data were excluded, and not included in our analysis.
Outcomes	1. Duration of any BF 2 weeks
	2. Duration of any BF 6 weeks 3. Any BE at 3 months
Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up: 18.2% Blinding: participants; no, counsellors; not feasible, outcome assessors; not clear Intention-to-treat analysis: not clear This study was conducted in Chicago, USA
Risk of bias	



Kistin 1990 (Continued)

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Table of random numbers was used
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, but highly unlikely
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not enough information
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Information not available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Kluka 2004

Methods	RCT		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 209		
	Inclusion criteria		
	Primiparous women who were planning to BF their infants.		
	Exclusion criteria		
	None mentioned		
Interventions	Experimental group: 111 women		
	Usual care plus a self-assessment pre-workshop guide and an interactive, educational, antenatal work- shop.		
	Control group: 98 women		
	Usual care		
Outcomes	BF at 3 and 6 months		
Notes	This study was conducted in Canada		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement		



Kluka 2004 (Continued)

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Opaque sealed envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not feasible to blind
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Outcome assessors
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comparable loss to follow-up (< 20% at 6 months in both arms)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Kools 2005

Methods	Cluster randomisation of 10 home healthcare centres. Coin flip determined which centres would re- ceive intervention		
	Clusters had comparable overall pre-randomisation rates and sizes		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 781		
	Inclusion criteria		
	Women considering BF All pregnant women using the identified 3 home healthcare organisations and from their 10 centres Women pregnant in their 7th month of pregnancy		
	Exclusion criteria		
	Women with babies weighing < 2000 g		
Interventions	Experimental group		
	408 women received standard care and BF booklet, which was used and referred to by caregiver at each consultation (which included practical instructions on BF, discussion around how to cope with BF, motivational discussion to initiate and maintain BF and additional information if asked for). Opportunity to access 24-hour free lactation consultant		
	Control group		
	373 received standard antenatal care and BF booklet and phone number for BF questions or BF prob- lems		
Outcomes	1. Number of mothers any BF at birth		
Outcomes	 Number of mothers any BF at birth Number of mothers BF exclusively at birth 		



Kools 2005 (Continued)

4. Number of mothers exclusive BF at 3 months

Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up: < 10% Blinding: participants; no, others unclear Intention-to-treat analysis: used
	This study was conducted in Maastricht, Netherlands

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Coin flip
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Coin flip was used
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described.Not blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described. Not blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Minimal loss to follow-up in experimental group and no loss to follow-up in control group
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Kronborg 2012

Methods	RCT		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 1193		
	Inclusion criteria		
	1193 nulliparous women were recruited before week 21 + 6 days of gestation, 603 were randomised to the intervention group, and 590 to the reference group. The inclusion criteria were nullipara registered at the Aarhus Midwifery Clinic, older than 18 years of age at enrolment, with a singleton pregnancy, and the ability to speak and understand Danish.		
Interventions	Experimental group		
	Structured antenatal training programme for 9 h attended in mid-pregnancy		
	Control group		
	Usual practice (no antenatal training)		
Outcomes	1. Initiation of BF		



Kronborg 2012 (Continued)

2. BF at 6 weeks and 1 year

	2. BF at 6 weeks and 1	year
Notes	This study was conduc	ted in Denmark
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "Randomisation was assigned by one staff midwife using computer voice response system. Randomisation was through an algorithm generated by a data manager. Ratio of 1:1."
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, not possible
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Postnatal midwives (personnel) were blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	16 out of 603 and 15 out of 590 women in the intervention and reference groups were lost to follow-up respectively
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported all outcomes as presented in methods
Other bias	Low risk	Baseline characteristics were quite comparable between intervention and reference groups. No other obvious biases

Lavender 2005

Methods	Cluster-RCT		
	Unit of randomisation: 8 electoral wards in 1 county, pairs were matched according to Jarman Under- privileged area score (UPA)		
	Within-pair randomised = 4 clusters each		
	Opaque sealed envelopes		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 1312		
	Inclusion criteria Women registered with a practice site/GP in one of the 8 electoral wards Women who expressed a desire to BF Women with no detected foetal abnormality at 20-week ultrasound		
	Exclusion criteria		
	Women with detected foetal abnormality Women who gave birth before 36 weeks' gestation Women who lived in potentially unsafe homes Women who planned to bottle feed		

Lavender 2005 (Continued)	Women who had previously BF for at least 6 weeks		
Interventions	1 antenatal BF education session with the woman's attending community midwife. Midwives were trained for this intervention		
	Experimental group (n = 633)		
	Normal antenatal care plus during third trimester attendance of a single antenatal BF education ses- sion. Each session involved up to 8 women and was facilitated by a qualified infant feeding co-ordina- tor		
	Control group (n = 679)		
	Received standard antenatal care that included BF advice from attending clinic midwives		
Outcomes	1. Number of mothers any BF at hospital discharge		
	2. Number of mothers any BF at 2 weeks		
	3. Number of mothers any BF at 4 weeks		
	4. Number of mothers any BFat 6 weeks		
	5. Number of mothers any BF at 4 months		
	6. Number of mothers exclusive BF at 4 months		
	7. Number of mothers any BF at 6 months		
	8. Number of mothers any BF at 12 months		
Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up: < 10%		
	Blinding: participants: not feasible, counsellors: no, outcome assessors: yes		
	Intention-to-treat analysis: used		
	I his study was conducted in northwest UK		
Dick of hims			

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Opaque sealed envelopes were used
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	The intervention was not feasible to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Outcome assessors were blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Loss to follow-up < 10% in both arms
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases



MacArthur 2009

	Cluster-RCT		
Participants	66 antenatal clinics with 2511 pregnant women		
	33 clinics including 114	0 women were randomised to receive the peer support worker service.	
	33 clinics including 137	1 women were randomised to receive standard care.	
Interventions	Intervention group (1140 women)		
	An antenatal peer support worker service planning a minimum of 2 contacts with women to provide advice, information, and support from approximately 24 weeks' gestation within the antenatal clinic or at home. The trained peer support workers were of similar ethnic and socio-demographic backgrounds to their clinic population.		
	Control group (1371 women)		
	Women in the control clusters received standard antenatal care, which included usual information and advice from midwives on BF without input from community peer support workers.		
Outcomes	Initiation of BF obtained from computerised maternity records of the hospitals where women from the primary care trust delivered		
Notes	This study was conduct	ted in Birmingham, UK	
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated	
()			
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described	
Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk High risk	Not described The intervention was not feasible to be blinded	
Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk High risk Low risk	Not described The intervention was not feasible to be blinded Data on outcome were supplied to the research team in an anonymous format	
Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk High risk Low risk Low risk	Not described The intervention was not feasible to be blinded Data on outcome were supplied to the research team in an anonymous format 113 out of 2511 women (4.5%) who participated in the trial were not available for primary outcome assessment	
Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk High risk Low risk Low risk Unclear risk	Not described The intervention was not feasible to be blinded Data on outcome were supplied to the research team in an anonymous format 113 out of 2511 women (4.5%) who participated in the trial were not available for primary outcome assessment No information available	

Mattar 2007

Methods	Cluster-RCT

Mattar 2007 (Continued)	A computer-generated cated to the intervention	list was used to randomise the women into the 3 groups. Each woman was allo- on group next on the list after written informed consent had been obtained.	
	Singapore		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 401		
	Inclusion criteria		
	Singleton pregnancy, g any obstetric complica	estation of at least 36 weeks at recruitment, no uterine scar, and the absence of tion that would contraindicate vaginal delivery, with informed consent.	
	Exclusion criteria		
	Not described		
Interventions	Multiple versus single		
	Experimental group		
	Group A (n = 123): receives was written and publis ing techniques, express watched a 16-min educ which the benefits of B strated, and common c minute session with a l BF and answered quest	wed an information booklet describing the techniques and benefits of BF, which hed by the hospital's BF support group. It contained practical advice on feed- sing breast milk, and management of common BF problems. Participants also cational video entitled "14 Steps to Better BF" (InJoy Videos, Boulder, CO), in F were introduced, correct positioning, latch-on, and breast care were demon- concerns (such as nipple pain) discussed. In addition, each woman had one 15- actation counsellor who examined the woman's nipples to assess adequacy for tions on BF.	
	Group B (n = 132) receiv ual session with the lac	ved the same booklet and watched the same video but did not have an individ- tation counsellor.	
	Control group Group C (n = 146)		
	Did not watch the video did not receive the boo	o, and did not have counselling. The primary report stated that the control group klet, video or counselling (Mattar 2007 p. 74)	
	All women in all randoı BF support.	mised groups had standard care during pregnancy, including access to postnatal	
Outcomes	 Number of mothers BF at 3 months Number of mothers BF at 6 months 		
Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up: 10% Blinding: only outcome assessor Intention-to-treat analysis addressed: yes This study was conducted in Singapore Comparison 4 includes the 2 treatment arms A and B		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated list	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Each woman was allocated to the intervention group next on the list after writ- ten informed consent had been obtained.	



Mattar 2007 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	The intervention was not feasible to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Outcome assessors were blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Loss to follow-up 10%
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Information not available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Noel-Weiss 2006

Methods	RCT	
Participants	Number of women randomised: 101	
	inclusion criteria	
	Nulliparous women expecting a single child, an uncomplicated birth, and planning to BF The women had to read and write in English and have a telephone to complete the postpartum questionnaires. To remain in the study, a mother and her infant had to be discharged at the same time and be able to BF without restriction.	
	Exclusion criteria	
	Not described	
Interventions	Workshop	
	Experimental group (n = 47)	
	Standard care plus a 2.5-h prenatal BF workshop designed using Bandura's theory of self-efficacy and adult learning principles. The intervention involved the use of lifelike dolls, videos, and discussion in a comfortable atmosphere.	
	Control group (n = 45)	
	Standard care	
Outcomes	1. Maternal BF self-efficacy	
	2. BF duration measured at 4 weeks and 8 weeks postpartum	
Notes	This study was conducted in Ontario, Canada	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement	

Noel-Weiss 2006 (Continued)

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Information not available
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Used sealed, sequentially numbered, opaque envelope containing a slip of pa- per stating either Control or Workshop
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	The intervention was not feasible to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Only outcome evaluators
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Analysed the data with both the intention-to-treat assumption and using the actual workshop attendance. 101 randomised and 92 were available for analy- sis
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Protocol not available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Olenick 2010

Methods	RCT	
Participants	Number of women randomised: 182	
	Inclusion criteria	
	Pregnant women enrolled for prenatal care at 24 weeks (or beyond) who consented to participate.	
	Exclusion criteria	
	Age < 18 years, stated intention to bottle-feed with formula, non-English speaking, those for whom BF was medically contraindicated, those whose newborns would be anticipated to be incapable of BF, no access to telephone for follow-up and those who were not planning to keep or raise their baby.	
Interventions	Experimental group	
	2-h BF self-efficacy theory-based class (86 women)	
	Control group	
	No class (96 women)	
Outcomes	1. BF duration	
	2. BF exclusivity and confidence through 12 weeks	
Notes	This trial was conducted in Texas, USA.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement	



Olenick 2010 (Continued)

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not feasible to blind
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Quote "A research assistant was used for all postpartum data collection by phone. Although she did have access to the information regarding the sub- jects' group assignment, she did not refer to this information when doing the phone interviews, in effect blinding her to their status. In this way, there was greater objectivity both by the interviewer and the interviewee."
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote "The overall dropout rate was 7.7%."
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No obvious baseline differences and other biases

Pate 2009				
Methods	RCT in parallel arms			
Participants	Setting: Arkansas department of Health USA			
	Inclusion criteria			
	Primiparous pregnant women on WIC with an expected due date greater than 2 months post-enrol- ment, ages of 20 and 30, have access to email and the Internet and provide written consent to partici- pate to completion.			
	Exclusion Criteria			
	Women identified as substance abusers on their ADH WIC-5 record, received WIC in counties served by BF peer counsellors and BF contraindicated for any of the following reasons:			
	1. takes street drugs or does not control alcohol use;			
	2. has an infant with galactosaemia;			
	3. has human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection;			
	4. has active, untreated tuberculosis;			
	5. takes certain medications that are contraindicated for BF;			
	6. currently undergoing treatment for breast cancer.			
	145 pregnant women on WIC were screened by Health Department nutritionists for eligibility and will- ingness to participate in the study. 23 participants completed consent and pre-test forms, were ran- domly assigned to groups, and participated in the study.			
Interventions	Experimental group			



Pate 2009 (Continued)	6 weeks of peer counsellor-guided web-based education and support related to BF practices. In addi- tion, the usual care of nursing and nutrition visits at the health department local health unit and writ- ten materials per Arkansas Department of Health (ADH) policy and procedure guidelines were given to the participants.
	Control group
	Usual care consisted of non-web-based interventions, such as face-to-face counselling and education and the distribution of written materials.
Outcomes	Breastfeeding self-efficacy
	None of our pre-specified outcomes were reported
Notes	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Eligible subjects were randomly assigned to either the intervention group or the control group using a computer-generated 2-block random number generator in a 1:1 ratio.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	As above
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Intervention could not be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No information available
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Data on all participants who were randomly assigned was analysed in the groups to which they were allocated on an intention-to-treat basis.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Pre-specified outcomes were published and reported
Other bias	Unclear risk	No information available

Raeisi 2014

Methods	Single-centre RCT
Participants	100 pregnant women and their partners randomised
	Inclusion criteria
	Women in the second trimester of pregnancy with no underlying disease or pregnancy complication.
	Exclusion criteria
	No details given

Raeisi 2014 (Continued)		
Interventions	Intervention group	
	The case group was pro attended 3 training ses	ovided with an educational package on promoting fathers' participation. They ssions where they were trained by brochures.
	Control group	
	Given no intervention	
Outcomes	 Birth weight Weight gain during the first 6 months Jaundice Duration of BF Spouse's level of awareness 	
Notes	Trial conducted at fam	ily health research centre in Tehran, Iran
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	"Randomization was performed according to the table of random numbers."
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No details given
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but very unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Results presented as text (no tables) but appears all data for all participants reported
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes reported and published
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Rossiter 1994

Methods	RCT, did not describe how randomisation was done	
Participants	Number of women randomised: convenience sample of 194 pregnant women	
	Inclusion criteria	
	1. Ethnic Vietnamese or other women who were born and reared in Vietnam.	
2. Vietnamese speaking		
	3. At least 12 weeks pregnant	

Rossiter 1994 (Continued)	4. Gave consent to part	ticipate
	Exclusion criteria	
	Unforeseen circumstan	ces (miscarriage, stillbirth, change of address)
Interventions	ventions Culture and language-specific educational programme	
	Experimental group	
	A 25-min videotape pro ducted in Vietnamese.	gramme followed by a series of 3 x 2 h of small group discussion sessions con-
	Control group	
	BF and childbirth pamp	hlets
Outcomes	 Number of mothers Number of mothers Number of mothers 	BFat birth BF at 4 weeks BF at 6 months
Notes	Loss of participants to f	ollow-up: < 10%
	Blinding: Participant: not feasible Clinician: unclear Outcome assessor: unc	e lear
	Intention-to-treat analysis: unclear This study was conducted in Sydney, Australia.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but highly unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Loss to follow-up < 10% in both arms

 porting bias)

 Other bias

 Low risk

 No other obvious biases

Information not available

Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Unclear risk

Selective reporting (re-



Ryser 2004

Methods	RCT		
Participants	Total number of women randomised: 54		
	Pregnant women, at least 18 years old, English speaking, able to read and write, received prenatal care and could attend 4 visits before delivery, low income, having access to telephone, undecided about BF method during initial contact with researchers		
Interventions	Intervention group (2	6 women)	
	Educational program (I	Best Start) included:	
	1. counselling session		
	 viewing video written materials ac 	Idressing common BF barriers perceived by low-income women	
	Control group (28 wor	men)	
	No exposure to the pro	gramme	
Outcomes	1. Attitude toward BF		
	 Social and profession BE sense of control 	onal support	
	 4. Intention to BF 		
	5. BF at 7 days delivery		
Notes	This study was conducted in Houston, Texas, USA		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Women selected a sealed envelope. No information about envelopes	
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described, unlikely to be blinded	
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described	
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No loss to follow-up	
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol was available	
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases	



Schlickau 2005a

Methods	RCT. Method of randomisation was not described	
Participants	Number of women randomised: 30	
	Inclusion criteria	
	Low-risk primigravida, work outside the home	Hispanic, in their third trimester, received care at Sedgwick, not planning to for 6 months.
	Exclusion criteria	
	Not described	
Interventions	Prenatal BF education	
	Experimental group	
	Level 1: the researcher planned to BF. Content demand concept and p A doll was used as a mo	approached the expectant mother. All participants confirmed that they s included benefits of BF. Charts and pictures were used to present supply-and- renatal breast preparation. Early and consistent BF practices were emphasised. odel for instruction about holding and positioning the baby and BF discreetly.
	Level 2: completed firs ing enters the baby's m of avoiding bottles, pao were reinforced. BF con	t level. Participants were introduced the concept of "baby quarantine" (noth- outh except the mother's breast for at least 40 days after birth. The benefits cifier and supplementation to promote establishment of milk for successful BF nmitment was encouraged through the use of checklist
	Control group	
	Standard care offered a	advice to BF and handouts were distributed during the initial prenatal visit
Outcomes	 Number of mothers BF at 45 days Duration of any BF 	
Notes	Loss of participants to	follow-up: 17%.
	This study was conduct	ted in Kansas, USA.
	Schlickau 2005b is a th	esis which included three parts:
	Part 1) Qualitative stud	ły
	Part 2) Multiple arm sto shop with introduction	udy of 30 women with a control group, a BF workshop (level 1), and a BF work- to concept of 'baby quarantine' (level 2). Part 2 is reported in Schlickau 2005a.
	Part 3) 86 women rand	omised to either control or BF education workshop.
	Part 3 results are prese	nted under Schlickau 2005b. Part 2 results are presented under Schlickau 2005a.
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described

Schlickau 2005a (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Loss of participants to follow-up: 17%
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Unclear risk	Not enough information

Schlickau 2005b

Methods	RCT		
Participants	Number of women randomised: 86		
	Inclusion criteria		
	Primigravida, immigrant Hispanic women aged 15-45 , 32-36 weeks' gestation, stable family situation, had a work situation compatible with BF for 6 weeks, had normal nipple assessment		
	Exclusion criteria		
	Homeless, not in a temporary agencies or shelter, high-risk pregnancies, serious illness of the newborn or mother that precluded BF, stillbirth, unforeseen family situation		
Interventions	Prenatal BF education		
	Experimental group (44)		
	BF education workshop		
	Control group (42)		
	Standard care		
Outcomes	 Initiation of BF Duration of any BF 		
Notes	This study was conducted in Kansas, USA.		
	Schlickau 2005b is a thesis which included three parts:		
	Part 1) Qualitative study		
	Part 2) Multiple arm study of 30 women with a control group, a BF workshop (level 1), and a BF work- shop with introduction to concept of 'baby quarantine' (level 2). Part 2 is reported in Schlickau 2005a.		
	Part 3) 86 women randomised to either control or BF education workshop.		
	Part 3 results are presented under Schlickau 2005b. Part 2 results are presented under Schlickau 2005a.		



Schlickau 2005b (Continued)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Manila packet sealed envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Loss to follow-up in intervention group (9.1%, 2/44), in control group (9.5 %, 4/42)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Protocol not available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Serwint 1996

Methods	RCT. Random number table was used. Method of randomisation (allocation) was not described.	
Participants	Number of women rai	ndomised: 156
	Nulliparous women, 18 years or older, with a foetus of gestational age of 28 weeks or less, who had not yet selected a paediatrician or wanted their infants to receive paediatric care at the hospital-based paediatric clinic	
Interventions	LC plus standard BF education (81 women) versus standard BF education (75 women)	
Outcomes	 Number of mothers who initiated BF at birth Number of mothers BF at 30 days Number of mothers BF at 60 days 	
Notes	This study was conducted in Baltimore, USA	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Random number table was used
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described



Serwint 1996 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Loss to follow-up 7.7%
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Wolfberg 2004

Methods	RCT. Method of randomisation was not described
Participants	Number randomised: not clear (59 couples completed study)
	567 expectant mothers were approached during 1 st and 2 nd trimester, refused to participate 24%; lost during prenatal period 36%; lack of involvement with father 8%; fathers refusal to participate 11%; fa- thers' failure after enrolling 9%, completed the study with 59 couples
	Inclusion criteria
	Women who sought prenatal care in the resident and faculty practices at Johns Hopkins Hospital
	Exclusion criteria
	Not described
Interventions	Classroom discussion on infant care and BF for expectant fathers
	Experimental group (27 fathers)
	Groups of 4-12 expectant fathers attending the classroom with open discussion about BF and support each other to be advocates for BF among fathers in the groups, facilitated by a man who was himself a father. 2-h classes used a variety of teaching media were held approximately every 2 weeks
	Control group (32 fathers)
	The class covered topics related to infant care and safety only using the same facilitator, and methods of interactive and informal education as of those the intervention group. These subjects did not receive the intervention class that contained the BF content.
Outcomes	 Number of mothers for initiated BF Number of mothers BF at 4 weeks Number of mothers BF at 6 weeks Number of mothers BF at 8 weeks
Notes	Loss of participants to follow-up: 36%
	Blinding:



Wolfberg 2004 (Continued)

Participant: not feasible Clinician: unclear Outcome assessor: unclear

Intention-to-treat analysis: not used

This study was conducted in Baltimore, USA

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not described but unlikely to be blinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Loss to follow-up 36%
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No information available
Other bias	Low risk	No other obvious biases

Wong 2014

Methods	RCT	
Participants	Setting: 2 study hospitals based on the geographic representativeness and high volume of eligible mothers in Hong Kong	
	Inclusion criteria: pregnant women with 1) 18 years of age or older; 2) Cantonese-speaking; 3) primiparous; 4) at least 35 weeks of gestation; 5) a singleton pregnancy; 6) no serious medical or obstetric complications; 7) intending to breastfeed; and 8) planning to stay in Hong Kong for at least 6 months after delivery	
	Exclusion criteria: being not entitled to health benefits in Hong Kong, not a Hong Kong resident, or both	
Recruitment period: Jan-June 2013		
	Follow-up completed: Dec 2013	
	Total numbers of 469 eligible pregnant women were enrolled and randomised (233 to intervention and 236 to standard care)	



Wong 2014 (Continued)			
Interventions	Experimental group (233 women)	
	Standard care plus one-to-one (20-30 min) BF education and support session based on WHO guideline for baby-friendly hospitals and evidence-based maternity care. The intervention was given immediate- ly after randomisation in a private room in the antenatal clinics to minimise contamination between the two treatment groups.		
Control group (236 women)			
	Standard antenatal care: standard maternal and foetal health checks by either clinic midwives or ob- stetricians along with health education to promote a healthy pregnancy.		
Outcomes	Exclusive BF at 6 weeks, 3 and 6 months postpartum.		
	Overall duration of any and exclusive BF (age in weeks when the infant first ingested formula and ceased BF completely, respectively) across the first 6 months postpartum.		
Notes	This study was conducted in Hong Kong.		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	An independent researcher who did not participate in participant recruitment or data collection generated the allocation sequence using the statistical soft- ware Stata13.1.	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Allocation sequences were kept in sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed en- velopes. The research nurse opened up the next envelope in the sequence to determine the assigned group after a pregnant woman had agreed to partici- pate and had signed the written consent form.	
Blinding of participants	High risk	Blinding of the research nurse or the participants was not possible given the	

(selection blas)		determine the assigned group after a pregnant woman had agreed to participate and had signed the written consent form.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Blinding of the research nurse or the participants was not possible given the nature of the intervention.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	The BF follow-up data were collected by a research assistant who was blinded to the participants' group allocation.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	443 (94.5% of 469), 222 (95.3% of 233) in intervention and 221 (93.6% of 236)in standard care, completed all follow-up to 6 months postpartum or until weaned.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Pre-specified outcomes were published and reported on.
Other bias	Low risk	Comparable baseline characteristics between intervention and standard care groups presented

BF: breastfeeding LC: lactation consultation NTI: nipple trauma index RCT: randomised controlled trial VAS: visual analogue scale



Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Ahmad 2012	Not RCT
Aidam 2005	Not only antenatal BF education. 9 home visits were provided in the 6-month postpartum period.
Anderson 2005	Not only antenatal BF education. Peer counsellors also gave postpartum visits.
Barlow 2006	Not only antenatal BF education. Home visits extended to 6 months postpartum.
Bonuck 2005	Not only antenatal BF education. Lactation consultants also made postpartum hospital or home visits.
Bonuck 2013	Included both pre and postnatal interventions.
Brent 1995	Not only antenatal BF education. Lactation consultants provided support in the postpartum period and until infants up to 1 year of age.
Caulfield 1998	Not only antenatal BF education. Peer counsellors followed up women in the postpartum period as long as they continued to breastfeed.
Chapman 2004	Not only antenatal BF education. Peer counselling extended to postpartum period.
Chapman 2013	Included both pre and postnatal interventions
Edwards 2013a	Not only antenatal BF education. Doula home visits extended to postpartum period.
Edwards 2013b	Animated computer agent used prenatally during a third trimester office visit and perinatally at discharge from the hospital plus usual care. The perinatal dialogue, delivered in the hospital, fo- cused on essential information that mothers need the most in their first 3 days of BF ("breastfeed- ing 101"). The perinatal dialogue also focused on addressing the most commonly asked questions by new BF mothers and motivating adherence to the CDC-recommended 6 months of exclusive BF goal.
Ekstrom 2006	Not only antenatal BF education. Support was also provided at 3-day, 3-month and 9-month post- partum.
Eneroth 2007	Not RCT, objective not relevant
Finch 2015	Not related to BF
Gijsbers 2006	Not only antenatal BF education; a home visit was also provided postnatally.
Graffy 2004	Not only antenatal BF education. Lactation counsellors provided postnatal support by telephone or home visits.
Grossman 1988	Not RCT (letter to editor commenting on non-RCT papers).
Hall 2007	Not RCT
Hanafi 2014	Not RCT
Howell 2014	Post-natal interventions
Isselmann 2006	Intervention was not antepartum BF education



Study	Reason for exclusion
Jahan 2013	Nutritional education not BF education
Jenner 1988	Not RCT
Johnston 2001	Not RCT
Kafatos 1991	Not only antenatal BF education. Home visits continued after delivery until the infant was 12 months
Kamau-Mbuthia 2013	Included pregnant and post-partum women and 3-month postpartum intervention
Kimani-Murage 2013	Not antenatal BF education (only protocol)
Kimani-Murage 2015	Included both pre and postnatal interventions
	(Only protocol)
Kupratakul 2010	Not only antenatal BF education. Document on BF was provided, that affects BF behaviour of post- partum mothers.
Loh 1997	Not RCT
Mattar 2003	Not RCT (letter to editor with comments on non-RCT papers).
Memmott 2006	Not RCT
Moore 2007	Not RCT, did not evaluate antenatal BF education
Morrow 1999	Not only prenatal BF education intervention. Peer counsellors also visited mothers at 1st, 2nd, 4th and 8th week postpartum.
Muirhead 2006	Not only prenatal BF education intervention. Peer supporters provided support up to 16 weeks postpartum.
NCT01383070	Not only prenatal BF education intervention. Counseling during the antenatal period, at delivery and during the immunisation visits.
Nekavand 2014	Postnatal education intervention
Ochola 2013a	Included postnatal intervention
Ochola 2013b	Not RCT
Otsuka 2014	Not RCT
Petrova 2009	Not only prenatal BF education intervention. Lactation consultant also provided support postna- tally.
Rea 1999	Participants were not pregnant women.
Redman 1995	Not only antenatal BF educational intervention. Lactation counsellors also visited women after de- livery.
Reeve 2004	Not RCT
Reifsnider 1997	Not RCT (systematic assignment)



Study	Reason for exclusion
Ross 1983	Not RCT
Sandy 2009	Not only antenatal BF education. Following the birth of a prenatally enrolled target child, the Fam- ily Support Workers (FSW) typically made a visit to the newborn's mother in the hospital. During this visit, the FSW assisted programme group mothers with any problems initiating BF. After hospi- tal discharge, FSWs continued to offer programme group mothers information and support in the home on a weekly basis.
Sciacca 1995	Not only antenatal BF education. BF incentives were given pre and postnatally.
Spinelli 2013	Not RCT of antenatal BF education.
Srinivas 2015	Peer counsellor, the intervention was performed at pre and post delivery.
Stockdale 2008	Included antenatal and postnatal interventions.
Stuebe 2016	Included antenatal and postnatal interventions.
Su 2007	Not only antenatal BF education. Lactation support was also provided in the postpartum period.
Taddei 2000	Participants were not pregnant women. They were health professionals.
Uauy 2013	Not yet recruited
Walkup 2009	Not only antenatal BF education. Paraprofessional delivered home visit education during the post- partum period.
Waller 1946	Not RCT
Wambach 2009	Not only antenatal BF education. Lactation consultant and peer counselling extended through 4 weeks postpartum.
Webb 2013	Included antenatal and postnatal interventions.
Wen 2011	Not antenatal BF education.
Westdahl 2008	Intervention was not antenatal BF education.
Westphal 1995	Participants were not pregnant women.
Wiles 1984	Not RCT
Wockel 2009	Participants were not pregnant women.

BF: breastfeeding RCT: randomised controlled trial

Characteristics of studies awaiting assessment [ordered by study ID]

Bahri 2013

Methods

Participants



Interventions	
Outcomes	
Notes	Awaiting translation

Bastani 2009	
Methods	
Participants	
Interventions	
Outcomes	
Notes	Awaiting translation

BF: breastfeeding

Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

Maycock 2015

Trial name or title	A study to prolong BF duration: design and rationale of the Parent Infant Feeding Initiative (PIFI) randomised controlled trial
Methods	Four-arm, factorial randomised controlled trial of partners of pregnant women
Participants	Male partners of pregnant women
Interventions	Control group (CG) - usual care
	Medium intensity intervention 1 (MI1) - specialised antenatal classes for partners with supporting printed materials
	Medium intensity intervention 2 (MI2) - antenatal and postnatal social support delivered via smart- phone application (exclude- involves postnatal intervention)
	High intensity intervention - specialised antenatal classes and antenatal and postnatal social sup- port delivered via smartphone application (exclude- involves postnatal intervention)
Outcomes	Primary outcomes
	Duration of any BF
	Duration of exclusive BF
	Secondary outcomes
	Age of introduction of formula
	Age of Introduction of complementary
	10005 (Solids)
	Maternal BF self-efficacy
Starting date	
Contact information	jane.scott@curtin.edu.au School of Public Health, Curtin University, GPO Box U1987, Perth 6845, Australia
Antenatal breastfeeding educa	tion for increasing breastfeeding duration (Review) 59

Copyright @ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Maycock 2015 (Continued)

Collaboration for Evidence, Research and Impact in Public Health (CERIPH), Curtin University, Perth, Australia

Notes

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. One type of BF education versus standard/routine care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Duration of any breastfeeding	2		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 BF education session versus stan- dard care (weeks)	1 165		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.0 [-2.78, 2.78]
1.2 BF education session versus stan- dard care (days)	1	16	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	6.20 [-10.84, 23.24]
2 Any breastfeeding at 3 months	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
2.1 BF education workshop versus standard care	1	185	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.07 [0.92, 1.24]
2.2 BF education session versus stan- dard care	1	469	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	0.90 [0.75, 1.07]
3 Any breastfeeding at 6 months	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
3.1 BF education workshop versus standard care	1	178	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.15 [0.87, 1.51]
3.2 BF practical skills versus standard care	1	596	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.01 [0.87, 1.17]
3.3 BF attitude education versus stan- dard care	1	592	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	0.92 [0.79, 1.07]
3.4 BF education session versus stan- dard care	2	569	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.01 [0.86, 1.19]
4 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months	3		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
4.1 BF education workshop versus standard care	1	185	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.08 [0.84, 1.38]
4.2 BF education session versus stan- dard care	2	637	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.05 [0.85, 1.30]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
5 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
5.1 BF education workshop versus standard care	1	178	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.13 [0.70, 1.80]
5.2 BF practical skills versus standard care	1	596	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.19 [0.69, 2.05]
5.3 Formal BF attitude versus stan- dard care	1	592	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.16 [0.67, 2.01]
5.4 BF education session versus stan- dard care	2	1094	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.02 [0.80, 1.31]
6 Initiation of breastfeeding	7		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
6.1 BF education workshop versus standard care	1	80	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.19 [0.97, 1.45]
6.2 Peer counselling versus standard care	1	59	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.82 [1.13, 2.93]
6.3 BF practical skills versus standard care	1	616	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.01 [0.98, 1.04]
6.4 BF attitude education versus stan- dard care	1	618	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.99 [0.95, 1.02]
6.5 BF education session versus stan- dard care	2	1327	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.03 [0.98, 1.09]
6.6 BF education video versus stan- dard care	1	346	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.99 [0.80, 1.23]
6.7 LC versus standard care	1	144	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.33 [0.86, 2.07]
7 Initiation of BF (cluster-randomised trial)	2		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
7.1 Peer counselling versus standard care	1	2398	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	1.11 [0.86, 1.43]
7.2 Group LC session versus standard care	1	1249	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	1.20 [0.80, 1.80]
8 Mastitis	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
8.1 LC versus standard care	1	70	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.2 [0.01, 4.02]

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
9 Breastfeeding complication (nipple pain)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
9.1 LC versus standard care	1	70	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-19.8 [-23.23, -16.37]
10 Breastfeeding complication (nip- ple trauma)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
10.1 LC versus standard care	1	70	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	38.65 [32.95, 44.35]
11 Breastfeeding problems	1	1162	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.00 [0.70, 1.43]
11.1 BF education session versus standard care	1	1162	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.00 [0.70, 1.43]

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 1 Duration of any breastfeeding.

Study or subgroup	One B	F education	Standard care			Mean Difference			Weight	Mean Difference	
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		Fi	xed, 95% CI				Fixed, 95% CI
1.1.1 BF education session versus											
Olenick 2010	77	8 (8.8)	88	8 (9.4)			+			100%	0[-2.78,2.78]
Subtotal ***	77		88				•			100%	0[-2.78,2.78]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable											
Test for overall effect: Not applicable	9										
1.1.2 BF education session versus	standard	l care (days)									
Schlickau 2005a	9	23.1 (15.9)	7	16.9 (18.2)				_		100%	6.2[-10.84,23.24]
Subtotal ***	9		7					•		100%	6.2[-10.84,23.24]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable											
Test for overall effect: Z=0.71(P=0.48)										
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² =0).5, df=1	(P=0.48), I ² =0%									
			5	Standard care	-50	-25	0	25	50	BF education	

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care		Risk Ratio				Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H	, Fixed, 95%	% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
1.2.1 BF education workshop versu	is standard care								
Kluka 2004	82/101	64/84			+			100%	1.07[0.92,1.24]
Subtotal (95% CI)	101	84			•			100%	1.07[0.92,1.24]
Total events: 82 (One BF education),					1				
		Standard care	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	BF education	



Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care		Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		M-I	H, Fixed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=0.82(P=0.41)									
1.2.2 BF education session versus st	andard care								
Wong 2014	116/233	131/236			+			100%	0.9[0.75,1.07]
Subtotal (95% CI)	233	236			•			100%	0.9[0.75,1.07]
Total events: 116 (One BF education),	131 (Standard care)								
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=1.24(P=0.22)									
		Standard care	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	BF education	

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1.3.1 BF education workshop versu	s standard care				
Kluka 2004	55/96	41/82		100%	1.15[0.87,1.51]
Subtotal (95% CI)	96	82		100%	1.15[0.87,1.51]
Total events: 55 (One BF education), 4	41 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.96(P=0.34)					
1.3.2 BF practical skills versus stand	dard care				
Forster 2004	162/297	162/299		100%	1.01[0.87,1.17]
Subtotal (95% CI)	297	299		100%	1.01[0.87,1.17]
Total events: 162 (One BF education),	, 162 (Standard care))			
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.09(P=0.93)					
1.3.3 BF attitude education versus	standard care				
Forster 2004	146/293	162/299		100%	0.92[0.79,1.07]
Subtotal (95% CI)	293	299		100%	0.92[0.79,1.07]
Total events: 146 (One BF education),	, 162 (Standard care))			
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=1.06(P=0.29)					
1.3.4 BF education session versus s	tandard care				
Raeisi 2014	47/50	38/50	-	28.49%	1.24[1.04,1.47]
Wong 2014	87/233	96/236		71.51%	0.92[0.73,1.15]
Subtotal (95% CI)	283	286		100%	1.01[0.86,1.19]
Total events: 134 (One BF education),	, 134 (Standard care))			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =6.14, df=	1(P=0.01); I ² =83.71%	6			
Test for overall effect: Z=0.1(P=0.92)					
		Standard care	1	BF education	

Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/ routine care, Outcome 4 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1.4.1 BF education workshop versus	s standard care				
Kluka 2004	61/101	47/84		100%	1.08[0.84,1.38]
Subtotal (95% CI)	101	84		100%	1.08[0.84,1.38]
Total events: 61 (One BF education), 4	7 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.61(P=0.54)					
1.4.2 BF education session versus st	andard care				
Olenick 2010	43/78	46/90		41.34%	1.08[0.81,1.43]
Wong 2014	62/233	61/236	<mark>12</mark>	58.66%	1.03[0.76,1.39]
Subtotal (95% CI)	311	326		100%	1.05[0.85,1.3]
Total events: 105 (One BF education),	107 (Standard care	e)			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.05, df=	1(P=0.82); I ² =0%				
Test for overall effect: Z=0.45(P=0.65)					
		Standard care	1	BF education	

Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/ routine care, Outcome 5 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1.5.1 BF education workshop versus	standard care				
Kluka 2004	29/96	22/82		100%	1.13[0.7,1.8]
Subtotal (95% CI)	96	82		100%	1.13[0.7,1.8]
Total events: 29 (One BF education), 2	2 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.5(P=0.62)					
1.5.2 BF practical skills versus stand	lard care				
Forster 2004	26/297	22/299		100%	1.19[0.69,2.05]
Subtotal (95% CI)	297	299		100%	1.19[0.69,2.05]
Total events: 26 (One BF education), 2	2 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.63(P=0.53)					
1.5.3 Formal BF attitude versus stan	idard care				
Forster 2004	25/293	22/299		100%	1.16[0.67,2.01]
Subtotal (95% CI)	293	299		100%	1.16[0.67,2.01]
Total events: 25 (One BF education), 2	2 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.53(P=0.6)					
1.5.4 BF education session versus st	andard care				
Lavender 2005	70/322	68/303		70.15%	0.97[0.72,1.3]
Wong 2014	34/233	30/236	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	29.85%	1.15[0.73,1.81]
		Standard care	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	BF education	



Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care		R	isk Rati	0		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		М-Н, Р	Fixed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Subtotal (95% CI)	555	539		-	\blacklozenge	•		100%	1.02[0.8,1.31]
Total events: 104 (One BF education), 98 (Standard care)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.38, df	f=1(P=0.54); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=0.17(P=0.86	5)								
		Standard care	0.5	0.7	1	1.5	2	BF education	

Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 6 Initiation of breastfeeding.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1.6.1 BF education workshop vers	us standard care				
Schlickau 2005b	38/42	29/38	+	100%	1.19[0.97,1.45]
Subtotal (95% CI)	42	38		100%	1.19[0.97,1.45]
Total events: 38 (One BF education)	, 29 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=1.65(P=0.1)					
1.6.2 Peer counselling versus stan	dard care				
Wolfberg 2004	20/27	13/32	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100%	1.82[1.13,2.93]
Subtotal (95% CI)	27	32		100%	1.82[1.13,2.93]
Total events: 20 (One BF education)	, 13 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=0	(P<0.0001); I ² =100%				
Test for overall effect: Z=2.48(P=0.01	L)				
1.6.3 BF practical skills versus sta	ndard care				
Forster 2004	296/306	297/310	+	100%	1.01[0.98,1.04]
Subtotal (95% CI)	306	310	•	100%	1.01[0.98,1.04]
Total events: 296 (One BF education	n), 297 (Standard care))			
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.61(P=0.54	4)				
1.6.4 BF attitude education versus	s standard care				
Forster 2004	291/308	297/310	+	100%	0.99[0.95,1.02]
Subtotal (95% CI)	308	310	•	100%	0.99[0.95,1.02]
Total events: 291 (One BF education	n), 297 (Standard care))			
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.77(P=0.44	4)				
1.6.5 BF education session versus	standard care				
Kronborg 2012	465/587	438/575		86.03%	1.04[0.98,1.11]
Olenick 2010	67/78	76/87	-+-	13.97%	0.98[0.87,1.11]
Subtotal (95% CI)	665	662	•	100%	1.03[0.98,1.09]
Total events: 532 (One BF education	n), 514 (Standard care)	1			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.68, d	f=1(P=0.41); I ² =0%				
Test for overall effect: Z=1.11(P=0.27	7)				
1.6.6 BF education video versus st	andard care				
		Standard care	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	BE education	



Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Kellams 2016	84/174	84/172		100%	0.99[0.8,1.23]
Subtotal (95% CI)	174	172	-	100%	0.99[0.8,1.23]
Total events: 84 (One BF education),	84 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=0(F	P<0.0001); I ² =100%				
Test for overall effect: Z=0.1(P=0.92)					
1.6.7 LC versus standard care					
Serwint 1996	31/74	22/70		100%	1.33[0.86,2.07]
Subtotal (95% CI)	74	70		100%	1.33[0.86,2.07]
Total events: 31 (One BF education),	22 (Standard care)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=1.29(P=0.2)					
		Standard care	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	BF education	

Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/ routine care, Outcome 7 Initiation of BF (cluster-randomised trial).

Study or subgroup	Peer coun- selling	Stan- dard care	log[Odds Ratio]	Odds Ratio	Weight	Odds Ratio
	N	N	(SE)	IV, Fixed, 95%	СІ	IV, Fixed, 95% CI
1.7.1 Peer counselling versus stan	dard care					
MacArthur 2009	1083	1315	0.1 (0.129)		— 100%	1.11[0.86,1.43]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100 %	1.11[0.86,1.43]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=0.81(P=0.42)					
1.7.2 Group LC session versus stan	dard care					
Lavender 2005	605	644	0.2 (0.207)		100%	1.2[0.8,1.8]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100%	1.2[0.8,1.8]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=0.88(P=0.38)					
			Standard care	0.5 0.7 1	1.5 2 Peer couns	elling

Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 8 Mastitis.

Study or subgroup	LC	Standard care		Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		М-Н, А	ixed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1.8.1 LC versus standard care									
Duffy 1997	0/35	2/35				_		100%	0.2[0.01,4.02]
Subtotal (95% CI)	35	35				-		100%	0.2[0.01,4.02]
Total events: 0 (LC), 2 (Standard care)									
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=1.05(P=0.29)									
		LC	0.005	0.1	1	10	200	Standard care	



Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/ routine care, Outcome 9 Breastfeeding complication (nipple pain).

Study or subgroup		LC	Stan	dard care		Mear	Differe	ence		Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		Fixe	ed, 95%	CI			Fixed, 95% CI
1.9.1 LC versus standard care											
Duffy 1997	35	3.7 (4.1)	35	23.5 (9.5)						100%	-19.8[-23.23,-16.37]
Subtotal ***	35		35		•					100%	-19.8[-23.23,-16.37]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable											
Test for overall effect: Z=11.32(P<0.00	001)										
				LC	-20	-10	0	10	20	Standard care	

Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/ routine care, Outcome 10 Breastfeeding complication (nipple trauma).

Study or subgroup		LC	Stan	dard care		Mean D	ifference		Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		Fixed,	95% CI			Fixed, 95% CI
1.10.1 LC versus standard care										
Duffy 1997	35	132.9 (5.5)	35	94.2 (16.3)					100%	38.65[32.95,44.35]
Subtotal ***	35		35					•	100%	38.65[32.95,44.35]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable										
Test for overall effect: Z=13.29(P<0.00	01)									
			S	tandard care	-50	-25	0 25	50	LC	

Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1 One type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 11 Breastfeeding problems.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care		R	isk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, R	andom, 959	% CI			M-H, Random, 95% CI
1.11.1 BF education session versu	s standard care								
Kronborg 2012	54/587	53/575			-			100%	1[0.7,1.43]
Subtotal (95% CI)	587	575						100%	1[0.7,1.43]
Total events: 54 (One BF education)	, 53 (Standard care)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=0	(P<0.0001); I ² =100%								
Test for overall effect: Z=0.01(P=0.99	9)								
Total (95% CI)	587	575						100%	1[0.7,1.43]
Total events: 54 (One BF education)	, 53 (Standard care)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=0	(P<0.0001); I ² =100%								
Test for overall effect: Z=0.01(P=0.99	9)								
		BF education	0.5	0.7	1	1.5	2	Standard care	



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Any breastfeeding at 3 months	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 Group education versus individual education	1	74	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.84 [0.61, 13.18]
2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
2.1 BF practical skills versus BF atti- tude education	1	590	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.09 [0.94, 1.28]
3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
3.1 BF practical skills versus BF atti- tude education	1	590	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.03 [0.61, 1.73]
4 Initiation of BF	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only
4.1 BF practical skills versus BF atti- tude education	1	614	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.02 [0.99, 1.06]

Comparison 2. One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 1 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	Group ed- ucation	Individual education	Ri		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-I	H, Fixed, 95%	CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
2.1.1 Group education versus indivi	dual education								
Kistin 1990	6/38	2/36						100%	2.84[0.61,13.18]
Subtotal (95% CI)	38	36						100%	2.84[0.61,13.18]
Total events: 6 (Group education), 2 (I	ndividual education)								
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=1.33(P=0.18)									
	Indiv	vidual education	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	Group education	

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	BF skills	BF attitudes	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
2.2.1 BF practical skills versus B	F attitude education				
Forster 2004	162/297	146/293		100%	1.09[0.94,1.28]
Subtotal (95% CI)	297	293		100%	1.09[0.94,1.28]
	F	avours BF attitude	1	Favours BF skills	



Study or subgroup	BF skills n/N	BF attitudes n/N	Risk Ra M-H, Fixed,	tio 95% CI	Weight	Risk Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Total events: 162 (BF skills), 146 (B	F attitudes)					
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=1.14(P=0.2	25)					
		Favours BE attitude	1		Favours BE skills	

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	BF skills	BF attitudes	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
2.3.1 BF practical skills versus BF at	ttitude education				
Forster 2004	26/297	25/293		100%	1.03[0.61,1.73]
Subtotal (95% CI)	297	293		100%	1.03[0.61,1.73]
Total events: 26 (BF skills), 25 (BF atti	tudes)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=0.1(P=0.92)					
	Fa	vours BF attitude	1	Favours BF skills	

Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2 One type of BF education versus a different type of BF education, Outcome 4 Initiation of BF.

Study or subgroup	BF skills	BF attitudes	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
2.4.1 BF practical skills versus BF	attitude education				
Forster 2004	296/306	291/308	- <mark></mark>	100%	1.02[0.99,1.06]
Subtotal (95% CI)	306	308	-	100%	1.02[0.99,1.06]
Total events: 296 (BF skills), 291 (B	F attitudes)				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: Z=1.36(P=0.1	17)				
	F	avours BF attitude	1	Favours BF skills	

Comparison 3. Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 BF education session plus commit- ment to exclusive BF versus BF educa- tion session	1	18	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	8.0 [-6.84, 22.84]
2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Subtotals only


Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.1 Video + education session versus pamphlets	1	175	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.59 [0.86, 2.94]

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education, Outcome 1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days).

Study or subgroup	Multiple in- terventions		Single intervention			Mean Difference				Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		Fix	ked, 95% CI				Fixed, 95% CI
3.1.1 BF education session plus com tion session	nmitme	nt to exclusive I	3F versus	BF educa-							
Schlickau 2005a	9	31.1 (16.2)	9	23.1 (15.9)						100%	8[-6.84,22.84]
Subtotal ***	9		9				-			100%	8[-6.84,22.84]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable											
Test for overall effect: Z=1.06(P=0.29)					1						
			Single	intervention	-100	-50	0	50	100	Multiple inter	ventions

Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Multiple methods of BF education versus a single method of BF education, Outcome 2 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	Multiple in- terventions	Single in- tervention	Risk Ratio				Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		М-Н, Р	ixed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
3.2.1 Video + education session ver	sus pamphlets								
Rossiter 1994	26/101	12/74			+	+		100%	1.59[0.86,2.94]
Subtotal (95% CI)	101	74						100%	1.59[0.86,2.94]
Total events: 26 (Multiple intervention	ns), 12 (Single interv	ention)							
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=1.47(P=0.14)									
	Si	ngle intervention	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	Multiple intervention	

Comparison 4. Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Any breastfeeding at 4 months (cluster-ran- domised trial)	1		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 LC + BF booklet + 24 h free LC versus BF booklet + phone number for BF questions and problems.	1	698	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	0.82 [0.58, 1.16]
2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months	2		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.1 LC + BF booklet + 24 hrs free LC versus BF booklet + phone number for BF questions and problems.	1	698	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	0.79 [0.57, 1.09]
2.2 BF booklet + video + LC versus BF booklet + video	1	150	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	1.40 [0.70, 2.80]
3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months	1		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
3.1 BF booklet + video + LC versus BF booklet + video	1	169	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	2.50 [1.00, 6.25]

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 1 Any breastfeeding at 4 months (cluster-randomised trial).

Study or subgroup	BF book- let+LC +24hrsLC	BF book- let+BF LC on phone	log[Odds Ratio]		Odds Ratio			Weight	Odds Ratio	
	Ν	Ν	(SE)		IV,	Fixed, 95% (IV, Fixed, 95% CI
4.1.1 LC + BF booklet + 24 h free LC questions and problems.	versus BF book	let + phone num	iber for BF							
Kools 2005	368	330	-0.2 (0.177)						100%	0.82[0.58,1.16]
Subtotal (95% CI)						•			100%	0.82[0.58,1.16]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable										
Test for overall effect: Z=1.12(P=0.26)									
		BF booklet+B	F LC on phone	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	BF booklet+L	C+24hrsLC

Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	Multiple interven- tions(A)	Multiple interven- tions(B)	log[Odds Ratio]		Odds Ratio	Weight	Odds Ratio
	Ν	Ν	(SE)		IV, Fixed, 95% CI		IV, Fixed, 95% CI
4.2.1 LC + BF booklet + 24 hrs free L questions and problems.	C versus BF boo	oklet + phone nu	mber for BF				
Kools 2005	368	330	-0.2 (0.167)			100%	0.79[0.57,1.09]
Subtotal (95% CI)					•	100%	0.79[0.57,1.09]
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=0(P	<0.0001); l ² =100	0%					
Test for overall effect: Z=1.42(P=0.16)							
4.2.2 BF booklet + video + LC versus	s BF booklet + v	rideo					
Mattar 2007	75	75	0.3 (0.354)			100%	1.4[0.7,2.8]
Subtotal (95% CI)					-	100%	1.4[0.7,2.8]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable							
Test for overall effect: Z=0.95(P=0.34)							
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² =2.	.14, df=1 (P=0.14	4), I ² =53.32%					
		Multiple in	terventions(B)	0.05 0.2	1 5	20 Multiple inte	rventions(A)



Analysis 4.3. Comparison 4 Different combinations of multiple methods of providing BF education, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	Multi- ple + LC	Multiple	log[Odds Ratio]		Odds Ratio		Weight	Odds Ratio
	Ν	Ν	(SE)		IV,	Fixed, 95% CI		IV, Fixed, 95% CI
4.3.1 BF booklet + video + LC versu	s BF booklet + v	video						
Mattar 2007	80	89	0.9 (0.468)				100%	2.5[1,6.25]
Subtotal (95% CI)							100%	2.5[1,6.25]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable								
Test for overall effect: Z=1.96(P=0.05)								
			Multiple	0.01	0.1	1 10	100 Multiple + LC	

Comparison 5. Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 BF education session plus commitment to exclusive BF versus standard care	1	16	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	14.20 [-2.97, 31.37]
2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months	2		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.1 BF booklet + video + LC versus standard care	1	159	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	2.60 [1.25, 5.40]
2.2 BF booklet + video versus standard care	1	159	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	1.80 [0.80, 4.05]
2.3 Monthly BF session + weekly cell phone message versus standard care	1	390	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	1.80 [1.10, 2.95]
3 Exclusive breastfeeding at six months	2		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
3.1 BF booklet + video + LC versus standard care	1	175	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	2.40 [1.00, 5.76]
3.2 BF booklet + video versus standard care	1	184	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	0.90 [0.30, 2.70]
3.3 Monthly BF session + weekly cell phone message versus standard care	1	390	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	2.40 [1.40, 4.11]
4 Initiation of breastfeeding	1		Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
4.1 Monthly BF session + weekly cell phone message versus standard care	1	380	Odds Ratio (Fixed, 95% CI)	2.61 [1.61, 4.24]



Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 1 Duration of any breastfeeding (days).

Study or subgroup	Multip	le methods	Stan	dard care		Ме	an Difference		Weight	Mean Difference
	N	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		F	ixed, 95% CI			Fixed, 95% CI
5.1.1 BF education session plus con care	nmitmei	nt to exclusive B	F versus	standard						
Schlickau 2005a	9	31.1 (16.2)	7	16.9 (18.2)			+		100%	14.2[-2.97,31.37]
Subtotal ***	9		7						100%	14.2[-2.97,31.37]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable										
Test for overall effect: Z=1.62(P=0.11)										
			S	tandard care	-100	-50	0 50	100	Multiple metho	ds

Analysis 5.2. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	Multiple methods	Stan- dard care	log[Odds Ratio]	Odds Ratio	Weight	Odds Ratio
	N	Ν	(SE)	IV, Fixed, 95% CI		IV, Fixed, 95% CI
5.2.1 BF booklet + video + LC versus	standard care					
Mattar 2007	75	84	1 (0.373)	│	100%	2.6[1.25,5.4]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100%	2.6[1.25,5.4]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=2.56(P=0.01)						
5.2.2 BF booklet + video versus star	idard care					
Mattar 2007	75	84	0.6 (0.414)	———————— —— ——————————————————————————	100%	1.8[0.8,4.05]
Subtotal (95% CI)					- 100%	1.8[0.8,4.05]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=1.42(P=0.16)						
5.2.3 Monthly BF session + weekly c	ell phone mess	age versus stan	dard care			
Flax 2014	196	194	0.6 (0.251)	——————————————————————————————————————	100%	1.8[1.1,2.95]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100%	1.8[1.1,2.95]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=2.34(P=0.02)						
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² =0.	73, df=1 (P=0.69	9), I ² =0%				
			Standard care	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	Multiple me	ethods

Analysis 5.3. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at six months.

Study or subgroup	Multiple methods	Stan- dard care	log[Odds Ratio]	Odds Ratio			Weight	Odds Ratio		
	Ν	N	(SE)		IV, Fi	xed, 95	% CI			IV, Fixed, 95% CI
5.3.1 BF booklet + video + LC ver	sus standard care									
Mattar 2007	80	95	0.9 (0.447)			-	-		100%	2.4[1,5.76]
Subtotal (95% CI)						-			100%	2.4[1,5.76]
		Favours mu	ltiple methods	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	Favours star	idard care



Study or subgroup	Multiple methods	Stan- dard care	log[Odds Ratio]	Odds Ratio	Weight	Odds Ratio
	Ν	Ν	(SE)	IV, Fixed, 95% CI		IV, Fixed, 95% CI
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=1.96(P=0.05))					
5.3.2 BF booklet + video versus sta	ndard care					
Mattar 2007	89	95	-0.1 (0.561)		100%	0.9[0.3,2.7]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100%	0.9[0.3,2.7]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=0.19(P=0.85)	1					
5.3.3 Monthly BF session + weekly	cell phone mes	sage versus stan	dard care			
Flax 2014	196	194	0.9 (0.275)		100%	2.4[1.4,4.11]
Subtotal (95% CI)					100%	2.4[1.4,4.11]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable						
Test for overall effect: Z=3.18(P=0)						
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² =2	.61, df=1 (P=0.2	7), I ² =23.3%				
		Favours mu	ltiple methods	0.2 0.5 1 2 5	Favours stan	dard care

Analysis 5.4. Comparison 5 Multiple methods of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 4 Initiation of breastfeeding.

Study or subgroup	multiple methods	stan- dard care	log[Odds Ratio]		(Odds Ratio		Weight	Odds Ratio
	N	N	(SE)		IV,	Fixed, 95% CI			IV, Fixed, 95% CI
5.4.1 Monthly BF session + wee	ekly cell phone mes	sage versus star	ndard care						
Flax 2014	380	0	1 (0.248)					100%	2.61[1.61,4.24]
Subtotal (95% CI)						•		100%	2.61[1.61,4.24]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=3.88(P=	0)								
		Favour	s standard care	0.01	0.1	1	10 100	Favours mu	ltiple methods

Comparison 6. Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Initiation of breastfeeding	8	3505	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.01 [0.94, 1.09]
2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months	3	822	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.06 [0.90, 1.25]
3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months	4	2161	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.07 [0.87, 1.30]
4 Any breastfeeding at 3 months	2	654	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.98 [0.82, 1.18]

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
5 Any breastfeeding at 6 months	4	1636	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.05 [0.90, 1.23]

Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 1 Initiation of breastfeeding.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Forster 2004	587/614	297/310	_ _	24.88%	1[0.97,1.03]
Kellams 2016	84/174	84/172	← →	7.82%	0.99[0.8,1.23]
Kronborg 2012	465/587	438/575		21.82%	1.04[0.98,1.11]
Lavender 2005	208/322	232/303	↓	17.13%	0.84[0.76,0.93]
Olenick 2010	67/78	76/87	+	15.13%	0.98[0.87,1.11]
Schlickau 2005b	38/42	29/38	→ →	8.59%	1.19[0.97,1.45]
Serwint 1996	31/74	22/70		2.49%	1.33[0.86,2.07]
Wolfberg 2004	20/27	13/32		2.15%	1.82[1.13,2.93]
Total (95% CI)	1918	1587		100%	1.01[0.94,1.09]
Total events: 1500 (One BF educatio	n), 1191 (Standard ca	ire)			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.01; Chi ² =22.8	4, df=7(P=0); I ² =69.35	%			
Test for overall effect: Z=0.27(P=0.79)				
		Standard care	1	BF education	

Analysis 6.2. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 2 Exclusive breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Kluka 2004	61/101	47/84		33.19%	1.08[0.84,1.38]
Olenick 2010	43/78	46/90		- 27.62%	1.08[0.81,1.43]
Wong 2014	62/233	61/236		39.19%	1.03[0.76,1.39]
Total (95% CI)	412	410		100%	1.06[0.9,1.25]
Total events: 166 (One BF education	n), 154 (Standard care	e)			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.07, d	f=2(P=0.96); I ² =0%				
Test for overall effect: Z=0.69(P=0.49	9)				
		Standard care	1	BF education	

Analysis 6.3. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 3 Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months.

Cochrane

Librarv

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions.

Better health.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Forster 2004	51/590	22/299		19.11%	1.17[0.73,1.9]
Kluka 2004	29/96	22/82		15.53%	1.13[0.7,1.8]
Lavender 2005	70/322	68/303		45.85%	0.97[0.72,1.3]
Wong 2014	34/233	30/236	•	19.51%	1.15[0.73,1.81]
Total (95% CI)	1241	920		100%	1.07[0.87,1.3]
Total events: 184 (One BF educatio	on), 142 (Standard care	e)			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.72,	df=3(P=0.87); I ² =0%				
Test for overall effect: Z=0.64(P=0.	52)				
		Standard care	1	BF education	

Analysis 6.4. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 4 Any breastfeeding at 3 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care		R	isk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Ra	andom, 95%	6 CI			M-H, Random, 95% CI
Kluka 2004	82/101	64/84						52.5%	1.07[0.92,1.24]
Wong 2014	116/233	131/236			◼┿			47.5%	0.9[0.75,1.07]
Total (95% CI)	334	320		-				100%	0.98[0.82,1.18]
Total events: 198 (One BF educatio	n), 195 (Standard care	2)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.01; Chi ² =2.4	9, df=1(P=0.11); I ² =59.	83%							
Test for overall effect: Z=0.2(P=0.84	4)								
		Standard care	0.5	0.7	1	1.5	2	BF education	

Analysis 6.5. Comparison 6 Summary of findings: one type of BF education versus standard/routine care, Outcome 5 Any breastfeeding at 6 months.

Study or subgroup	One BF ed- ucation	Standard care	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% CI	
Forster 2004	308/590	162/299		32.42%	0.96[0.85,1.1]	
Kluka 2004	55/96	41/82		17.83%	1.15[0.87,1.51]	
Raeisi 2014	47/50	38/50	│	27.74%	1.24[1.04,1.47]	
Wong 2014	87/233	96/236	•	22.01%	0.92[0.73,1.15]	
Total (95% CI)	969	667		100%	1 05[0 9 1 23]	
Total events: 497 (One BF education), 337 (Standard care)		100 /0	1.05[0.3,1.25]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.01; Chi ² =7.77	, df=3(P=0.05); l ² =61.	37%				
Test for overall effect: Z=0.67(P=0.51)					
Standard care 1 BF education						



APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategies

Authors wrote and ran these searches.

CENTRAL (The Cochrane Library 2016, Issue 3)

#1 antenatal (MeSH)
#2 prenatal (MeSH)
#3 education*
#4 BF
#5 (breast next feeding)
#6 breastfeeding
#7 lactation*
#8 nursing
#9 (#1 or #2)
#10 (#4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8)
#11 (#9 and #3 and #10)

MEDLINE (January 1966 to 1 March 2016) and SCOPUS (January 1985 to 1 March 2016)

- #1 antenatal[tiab]
- #2 prenatal care[mh]
- #3 (#1 or #2)
- #4 breastfeeding
- #5 breast feeding
- #6 lactation

#7 nursing

#8(#4 or #5 or #6 or #7)

#9 randomised controlled trial[pt]

#10 controlled clinical trial[pt]

- #11 randomised[tiab]
- #12 placebo[tiab]
- #13 groups[tiab]
- #14 cluster[tiab]

#15(#9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14)

#16 education

#17 (#3 and #8 and #15 and #16)

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
1 March 2016	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Five new trials incorporated, 'Summary of findings' table added, analyses re-structured to provide meaningful data for 'Summary of findings' table.



Date	Event	Description
1 March 2016	New search has been performed	Search updated and five new trials added (Flax 2014; Kellams 2016; Pate 2009; Raeisi 2014; Wong 2014).

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 2, 2007 Review first published: Issue 11, 2011

Date	Event	Description
2 June 2012	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Review updated.
2 June 2012	New search has been performed	Search updated in November 2011. Two new studies included (Kronborg 2011; Olenick 2010) and three excluded (Kupratakul 2010; NCT01383070; Wockel 2009).
7 October 2011	Amended	Sources of support edited.
17 April 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

P Lumbiganon (PL) and M Laopaiboon (ML) screened Titles and Abstracts to select potential studies. Ruth Martis (RM), Jacqueline Ho (JH) Mario Festin (MF), ML and PL selected potential studies to include or exclude. ML and PL revised data analysis, drafted the update review. All review authors approved the final version of the review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pisake Lumbiganon: none known

Ruth Martis: A bursary from the Cochrane Health Promotion and Public Health Field was provided to support Ruth Martis to travel to a review authors meeting in Australia. The bursary was administrated by the SEA-ORCHID project.

Malinee Laopaiboon: none known

Mario R Festin: I was employed as Medical officer and as fixed term staff from 2007 to early 2008 at the WHO and as professional staff (Lead Specialist) at the WHO HQ in Geneva from early 2009 to present. I received payment from United Laboratories Philippines from 2006 to 2007 on use of antibiotics in gynecologic surgery.

Jacqueline J Ho: none known Mohammad Hakimi: none known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

- Khon Kaen University, Thailand.
- The University of Adelaide, Australia.
- University of Philippines, Philippines.
- Gadjah Mada University, Indonesia.
- Royal College of Medicine Perak, Malaysia.
- Penang Medical College, Malaysia.

External sources

• Thailand Research Fund (Outstanding Professor Award), Thailand.



- Wellcome Trust, UK.
- Cochrane Health Promotion and Public Health (HPPH) Field, Australia.
- Evidence and Programme Guidance Unit, Department of Nutrition for Health and Development, World Health Organization, Switzerland.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

We added one more comparison of 'programmes involving multiple methods of providing education versus no formal education' to our subgroup analysis. We searched SCOPUS instead of Embase because our university subscribed to SCOPUS but not Embase.

Non-prespecified outcomes

Two studies reported BF practices at time points not pre-specified for this review. One study (Noel-Weiss 2006) reported any BF at eight weeks and exclusive BF at eight weeks. Another study reported BF outcomes at seven days (Ryser 2004).

A 'Summary of findings' table has been incorporated in this update (2016).

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Breast Feeding [statistics & numerical data]; Counseling [methods]; Mothers [*education]; Peer Group; Prenatal Care [*methods]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Time Factors

MeSH check words

Female; Humans; Pregnancy